**<u>COVID-19 Update:</u>** EPA is providing flexibilities to applicants experiencing challenges related to COVID-19. Please see the **Flexibilities Available to Organizations Impacted by COVID-19** clause in Section IV of <u>EPA's Solicitation Clauses</u>.

# **OVERVIEW INFORMATION**

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Science Advisor, Policy and Engagement Office of Research and Development Science to Achieve Results (STAR) Program

# DRIVERS AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF ENERGY TRANSITIONS IN UNDERSERVED COMMUNITIES

This is the initial announcement of this funding opportunity.

# Funding Opportunity Number:

EPA-G2022-STAR-F1, Drivers and Environmental Impacts of Energy Transitions in Underserved Communities EPA-G2022-STAR-F2, Early Career: Drivers and Environmental Impacts of Energy Transitions in Underserved Communities

# Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) Number: 66.509

Solicitation Opening Date: *January 18, 2022* Solicitation Closing Date: *April 28, 2022*: 11:59:59 pm Eastern Time

# **Table of Contents**

SUMMARY OF PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS	
Synopsis of Program	
Award Information	
Eligibility Information	
Application Materials	
Agency Contacts	
I. FUNDING OPPORTUNITY DESCRIPTION	
A. <u>Introduction</u>	
B. <u>Background</u>	
C. <u>Authority and Regulations</u>	
D. Specific Research Areas of Interest/Expected Outputs and Outcomes	
E. <u>References</u>	
F. Special Requirements	
G. Additional Provisions for Applicants Incorporated into the Solicitation	

- II. AWARD INFORMATION
- III. ELIGIBILITY INFORMATION
  - A. Eligible Applicants
  - B. Cost Sharing
  - C. Other
- IV. APPLICATION AND SUBMISSION INFORMATION
  - A. Grants.gov Submittal Requirements and Limited Exception Procedures
  - B. Application Package Information
  - C. Content and Form of Application Submission
  - D. <u>Submission Dates and Times</u>
  - E. Funding Restrictions
  - F. Submission Instructions and Other Submission Requirements
- V. <u>APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION</u>
  - A. <u>Peer Review</u>
  - B. <u>Relevancy Review</u>
  - C. Past Performance History Review
  - D. Human Subjects Research Statement (HSRS) Review
  - E. Evaluation of the Scientific Data Management Plan
  - F. Funding Decisions
- VI. AWARD ADMINISTRATION INFORMATION
  - A. Award Notices
  - B. <u>Disputes</u>
  - C. Administrative and National Policy Requirements
- VII. <u>AGENCY CONTACTS</u>

For Updates and Additional Information (<u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities</u>)

Access Standard STAR Forms (<u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>)

View research awarded under previous solicitations (<u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-grant-areas</u>)

# SUMMARY OF PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS

#### Synopsis of Program:

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), as part of its Science to Achieve Results (STAR) program, is seeking applications proposing community-engaged research that will address the drivers and environmental impacts of energy transitions in underserved communities. For purposes of this competition and the evaluation of applications, "underserved communities" refers to populations sharing a particular characteristic, as well as geographic communities, that have been systematically denied a full opportunity to participate in aspects of economic, social, and civic life, including people of color, low income, rural, tribal, indigenous, and other populations that may be disproportionately impacted by environmental harms and risks.

Specifically, this RFA seeks research that addresses the following research areas:

- 1. Understanding how air quality, the environment, and public health in underserved communities might be improved through the transformations of the energy sector (e.g., wide-spread adoption of renewable energy sources and energy efficient technologies, electrification of transportation services and household energy use) while minimizing potential negative impacts;
- 2. Identifying approaches or strategies to ensure that energy transitions provide air quality benefits and reduce environmental risks while meeting the energy and mobility needs of underserved communities;
- 3. Understanding how socioeconomic, cultural, behavioral, institutional, and systems factors drive individual and household decisions regarding the adoption of renewable energy sources, energy-efficient technologies and building modifications, and new transportation modes in underserved communities;
- 4. Understanding how socioeconomic, organizational, and institutional factors affect decisions at the organizational, governmental, and community levels regarding the adoption and diffusion of renewable energy sources, energy-efficient technologies, building modifications, and new transportation modes in underserved communities; and,
- 5. Identifying and evaluating potential multi-pollutant and/or multi-sectoral approaches to achieve climate, air quality, and other environmental goals while maximizing potential positive impacts as well as minimizing potential negative impacts to underserved communities arising from large-scale energy systems transformation.

This solicitation provides the opportunity for the submission of applications for projects that may involve human subjects research. Human subjects research supported by the EPA is governed by EPA Regulation 40 CFR Part 26 (Protection of Human Subjects). This includes the Common Rule at subpart A and prohibitions and additional protections for pregnant women and fetuses, nursing women, and children at subparts B, C, and D. Research meeting the regulatory definition of intentional exposure research found in subpart B is prohibited by that subpart in pregnant women, nursing women, and children. Research meeting the regulatory definition of observational research found in subparts C and D is subject to the additional protections found in those subparts for pregnant women and fetuses (subpart C) and children (subpart D). All applications must include a Human Subjects Research Statement (HSRS, as described in Section IV.C.6.c of this solicitation), and if the project involves human subjects research, it will be subject to an additional level of review prior to funding decisions being made as described in Sections V.D and V.F of this solicitation.

Guidance and training for investigators conducting EPA-funded research involving human subjects may be obtained here: <u>https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjects-research-0</u> <u>https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title40/40cfr26\_main\_02.tpl</u>

In addition to regular awards, this solicitation includes the opportunity for early career awards. The purpose of the early career award is to fund research projects smaller in scope and budget by early career PIs. It is expected that the majority of the research will be performed by early career investigators. Further, it is expected that significant resources will be allotted to early career investigators to perform the research. Please see Section III of this Request for Applications (RFA) for details on the early career eligibility criteria.

#### Award Information:

Anticipated Type of Award: Grant or cooperative agreement

Estimated Number of Awards: Approximately 11 awards

EPA intends to award 6 regular applications and 5 early career applications (as defined in Section III.A). This is an estimate and is subject to change based on funding levels, the quality of applications received, and other applicable considerations. See Section V.F. Funding Decisions for additional information.

Anticipated Funding Amount: Approximately \$10 million total for all awards Potential Funding per Award: Up to a total of \$1,125,000 per regular award, and up to a total of \$650,000 per early career award, including direct and indirect costs, with a maximum duration of four years. Cost-sharing is not required. Applications with budgets exceeding the total award limits will not be considered.

# **Eligibility Information:**

Public and private nonprofit institutions/organizations, public and private institutions of higher education, and hospitals located in the U.S. and its territories or possessions; state and local governments; Federally Recognized Indian Tribal Governments; and U.S. territories or possessions are eligible to apply. Special eligibility criteria apply to the early career award portion of this RFA. See full announcement for more details.

#### **Application Materials:**

To apply under this solicitation, use the application package available at Grants.gov (for further submission information see Section IV.F. "Submission Instructions and other Submission Requirements"). Note: With the exception of the current and pending support form (available at <u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>), all necessary forms are included in the electronic application package. Make sure to include the current and pending support form in your Grants.gov submission.

If your organization is not currently registered with Grants.gov, you need to allow approximately one month to complete the registration process. Applicants must ensure that all registration requirements are met in order to apply for this opportunity through Grants.gov and should ensure that all such requirements have been met well in advance of the submission deadline. This registration, and electronic submission of your application, must be performed by an authorized representative of your organization.

If you do not have the appropriate internet access to utilize the Grants.gov application submission process for this solicitation, see Section IV.A below for additional guidance and instructions.

#### **Agency Contacts:**

Technical Contact: Serena Chung; phone: 202-564-6069; email: <u>chung.serena@epa.gov</u> Eligibility Contact: Ron Josephson; phone: 202-564-7823; email: <u>josephson.ron@epa.gov</u> Electronic Submissions Contact: Debra M. Jones; phone: 202-564-7839; email: jones.debram@epa.gov

# I. FUNDING OPPORTUNITY DESCRIPTION

# A. Introduction

Climate change mitigation and adaptation is a high priority for the United States and the EPA. Rapid large-scale transformations of energy systems and transportation services to low-carbon, renewable, and energy efficient sources and technologies are essential to achieving deep reductions in carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and other greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions necessary to avoid the most severe impacts of climate change. These energy transitions are underway, but the pace and trajectories remain uncertain. The uncertainties provide challenges and opportunities to improve environmental and public health in ways that also reduce the inequities prevalent in the current energy and transportation systems, such as the disproportionate impact of environmental hazards on minority and low-income populations.

Environmental Justice (EJ) is an integral part of EPA's mission to protect human health and the environment. EJ is achieved when all people are fully protected from environmental and health hazards and have equitable access to decision-making processes to maintain a healthy environment in which to live, learn, and work. The EPA defines EJ as the fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, color, national origin, or income with respect to the development, implementation and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations, and policies. Fair treatment means no group of people should bear a disproportionate share of the negative environmental consequences resulting from industrial, governmental, and commercial operations or policies. Meaningful involvement means people have an opportunity to participate in decisions about activities that may affect their environment and/or health; the public's contribution can influence the regulatory agency's decision; community concerns will be considered in the decision-making process; and decision makers will seek out and facilitate the involvement of those potentially affected. In addition, EPA recognizes the right of Federally recognized tribes as sovereign governments to self-determination and acknowledges the federal government's trust responsibility to tribes.

This research solicitation supports the Administration's priorities to address environmental justice and the climate crisis, such as described in the following Executive Orders (EOs):

- EO 13985: Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communities through the Federal Government
- EO 13990: Protecting Public Health and the Environment and Restoring Science to Tackle the Climate Crisis
- EO 14008: Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad

The Science to Achieve Results (STAR) Program's goal is to stimulate and support scientific and engineering research that advances EPA's mission to protect human health and the environment. It is a competitive, peer-reviewed, extramural research program that provides access to the nation's best scientists and engineers in academic and other nonprofit research institutions.

STAR funds research on the environmental and public health effects of air quality, environmental changes, water quality and quantity, hazardous waste, toxic substances, and pesticides.

In addition to regular awards, this solicitation includes the opportunity for early career awards. The purpose of the early career award is to fund research projects smaller in scope and budget by early career PIs. Please see Section III of this RFA for details on the early career eligibility criteria.

EPA recognizes that it is important to engage all available minds to address the environmental challenges the Nation faces. At the same time, EPA seeks to expand the environmental conversation by including members of communities which may have not previously participated in such dialogues to participate in EPA programs. For this reason, EPA strongly encourages all eligible applicants identified in Section III, including minority serving institutions (MSIs), to apply under this opportunity.

For purposes of this solicitation, the following are considered MSIs:

1. Historically Black Colleges and Universities, as defined by the Higher Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1061(2)). A list of these schools can be found at Historically Black Colleges and Universities;

2. Tribal Colleges and Universities (TCUs), as defined by the Higher Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1059c(b)(3) and (d)(1)). A list of these schools can be found at American Indian Tribally Controlled Colleges and Universities;

3. Hispanic-Serving Institutions (HSIs), as defined by the Higher Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1101a(a)(5)). A list of these schools can be found at Hispanic-Serving Institutions;

4. Asian American and Native American Pacific Islander-Serving Institutions; (AANAPISIs), as defined by the Higher Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1059g(b)(2)). A list of these schools can be found at Asian American and Native American Pacific Islander-Serving Institutions; and

5. Predominately Black Institutions (PBIs), as defined by the Higher Education Act of 2008, 20 U.S.C. 1059e(b)(6). A list of these schools can be found at Predominately Black Institutions.

# **B.** Background

Energy and transportation systems are rapidly shifting away from fossil-based systems of energy production and consumption. These changes are central to mitigating climate change as scientific evidence continues to emphasize the urgent need to reduce GHG emissions (IPCC, 2021). As energy systems and transportation landscapes evolve, the type, magnitude, and distribution of environmental and public health benefits and burdens will also evolve spatially and temporally, and actions at the local and state levels can play a pivotal role in determining the distribution of benefits and risks across communities. To address environmental and public health challenges associated with energy transitions, actions must be taken to address the diverse sets of

community needs and concerns, which are dependent on geographic, socioeconomic, demographic, governmental, and other contexts and vary with time. The focus of this research solicitation is on underserved communities, where "underserved communities" refers to populations sharing a particular characteristic, as well as geographic communities, that have been systematically denied a full opportunity to participate in aspects of economic, social, and civic life, including people of color, low income, rural, tribal, indigenous, and other populations that may be disproportionately impacted by environmental harms and risks. Given the differences in needs, opportunities, and potential impacts across different types of underserved communities, this solicitation seeks research that involves substantial engagement with communities, community-based organizations, and/or tribes to leverage the experience and expertise of the affected communities.

#### Energy Transitions and Potential Environmental Impacts

Energy transitions are occurring throughout the built environment, including residential buildings, commercial buildings, industrial facilities, and transportation systems; and are centered around increasing use of low-carbon and renewable energy sources and technologies, increasing energy efficiency, lowering energy intensity, and reducing energy demand. Electrification of appliances and vehicles, and advancement in energy storage technologies are increasing electricity demand while enabling incorporation of renewable resources. Hydrogen, when produced using electricity from renewable energy sources, has the potential to greatly reduce greenhouse gas emissions from industrial production processes and heavy-duty transportation. These changes are transforming the electrical power grids as they expand, interconnect, distribute generation, incorporate storage, and decarbonize.

In addition to providing climate benefit by reducing GHG emissions, the energy transitions also provide co-benefits in improving air quality and reducing related public health burdens. Studies have typically concluded that the monetized value of air quality co-benefits exceeds implementation costs; though some studies indicate a mix of benefits and disbenefits, due to the complexity of economic feedback from changing fuel prices, sectoral shifts in energy demand, and/or non-linear chemical processes associated with atmospheric ozone formation (Gallagher and Holloway, 2020). Air quality benefits of energy transitions also carry over to indoor environments, where building electrification reduces the release of toxic pollutants from gas stoves and other gas appliances. However, reduced ventilation rates from energy efficiency measures may increase indoor air pollution in some cases.

The impacts of energy transitions touch on all environmental media and are not always positive. For example, the production of photovoltaic cells for solar panels and mining metals for batteries can generate toxic substances that contaminate the environment. Additionally, electrification not only increases electricity demand, but could also change the temporal and spatial patterns of demand, putting stress on existing infrastructure (Wang et al. 2021; Muratori 2018). Increasing power generation capacity could lead to an expansion of energy generating facilities on rural lands (including tribal), with consequences for air quality, land-use, ecosystems, and water resources. Eventually, end-of-life recycling and disposal issues for used solar panels, wind turbine blades, batteries, and other components will increase in scale and, if poorly managed, present environmental and public health burdens. As newer energy technologies gain market

share, older infrastructures are being displaced – some coal plants and mines are closing, some oil and gas wells are being abandoned, and underground storage tanks may remain in abandoned gasoline stations. These changes may pose both risks and opportunities to nearby communities and/or tribes.

Changes in the transportation sector play a significant role in energy transitions. Automakers are increasingly making announcements about their commitment to an electrified future. Electric vehicles (EVs) produce no tailpipe emissions and, thus, will remove a major local source of ambient air pollution that currently disproportionally affects many underserved communities. While charging the battery may increase air pollutant emissions from power plants, driving electric instead of gasoline vehicles leads to reductions in total emissions and improved air quality, especially if the electricity is generated from renewable energy sources (Isik et al., 2021; Ou et al., 2021; Schnell et al., 2019; Nopmongcol et al., 2017). The climate and air quality benefits will grow in the future as electricity generation is decarbonized. However, in the near term, EVs may contribute to increased air pollution emissions at existing coal-fired power plants and worsen air quality of downwind underserved communities. Non-tailpipe emissions of particulate matter from EVs may also differ from the internal combustion engine vehicles they displace due to differences in braking systems, vehicle weights, and other factors.

Other changes in the transportation sector, such as the emergence of new mobility providers and automated technologies, and associated vehicle types – including microtransit vans, city cars, autocycles, cargo trikes, e-bikes, and scooters – are underway. Collectively, a new mobility future of shared, automated, electric vehicles (SAEVs) and on-demand transportation services (or Mobility-as-a-Service [MaaS]) is developing. These trends could create a cleaner, more efficient, more affordable, more accessible, and more equitable transportation future; but they could also create negative consequences that disproportionally impact underserved communities.

In addition to passenger travel, movement of goods and services is also undergoing radical change due to the emergence of SAEV technologies and business strategies (e.g., e-commerce) taking advantage of these technologies. Long haul trucking may be an ideal target for automation, as evidenced by efforts to develop, test, and deploy trucks with driving automation (Heilweil, 2020). Local delivery fleets, buses, and shared mobility vehicles that return to a common depot can benefit greatly from the lower fuel and maintenance cost of electric vehicles. Growing demand for faster goods delivery and e-commerce growth are also reshaping goods movement and creating opportunities for SAEVs and other innovations. These positive innovations are already beginning to place an unequal burden on underserved communities. For example, growth in e-commerce has led to increases in warehouses and distribution facilities, which are disproportionately located in low-income and minority neighborhoods, who then bear the brunt of increased noise and air pollution from increased truck traffic (Jaller et al., 2020; Yuan, 2019). The combination of passenger and goods delivery could increase synergies with supply chain efficiency and may be a more sustainable approach to the "First-Last Mile" problem (Bruzzone et al, 2021).

Social Dimensions of Energy Transitions and Environmental Justice

Energy transitions require a wide range of socioeconomic, institutional, and behavioral changes that cannot be accomplished with technical innovations alone (Sovacool and Griffiths, 2020;

Hoppe and de Vries, 2019; Steg et al., 2015; Nye el al., 2010). As energy systems are woven into the interconnected social, economic, and political structures, new ways of organizing and governing energy systems will be necessary (Miller et al., 2013). The ability and willingness to adopt new technologies and change behaviors and acceptance of new initiatives are dependent on economic, social, cultural, and political contexts, and can be influenced by the degree of control that individuals have over their environments. To propel sustainable energy transitions and address potential environmental and public health impacts, we must understand and consider the ability and willingness of individuals, private and public organizations, businesses, tribes, and communities to adopt new technologies and implement energy efficiency measures. In addition, we must also understand and consider how individual and household behavior may change in the new built environment in order to achieve intended goals while avoiding unintended consequences.

Understanding the human and social dimensions of energy transitions in underserved communities is also critical in finding an equitable pathway to a clean energy future. Many studies have established that minority and low-income populations are more likely to live in close proximity to major roadways, industrial facilities, and other environmental hazards (Tessum et al., 2021; Mikati et al., 2018; Johnson et al., 2016; Pastor et al 2016; Mohai and Saha, 2015; Mohai et al, 2009). At the same time, underserved communities often are in transit deserts, where mobility access and vehicle affordability are key barriers to economic opportunity. The existing transportation paradigm – based on personally owned, internal combustion engine vehicles, and the roadways and parking spaces to support them - has created an infrastructure and exposure burden that has fallen disproportionately on people of color, lowincome, and indigenous communities. In addition to being burdened disproportionally by environmental hazards and underserved by infrastructure, many low-income and minority communities are also located in areas at high risk for natural hazards that might increase in frequency and intensity due to climate change (U.S. EPA 2021) and may have less adaptive capacity to respond to and cope with natural disasters and emerging stressors caused by climate change (Chakraborty et al. 2019; Davies et al., 2018).

The social, political, and economic factors that contribute to environmental inequalities are also indicators of energy injustice in that minority and low-income populations are more likely to be exposed to air and water pollution from energy development, live in energy inefficient dwelling units with poorer structural building conditions and less efficient appliances, spend a greater portion of their income on energy related expenditures than the average family, and have less access to energy efficiency technologies (Kontokosta et al., 2020; Reames et al., 2018; Jessel et al., 2019; Drehobl and Ross, 2016; Reames 2016). Similarly, tribal communities face unique challenges on energy access and environmental justice issues due to political and cultural dynamics (Sandoval 2018; Vickery and Hunter, 2016); and many are disproportionately impacted by a number of environmental and health challenges that work against the safe practice of their traditional lifeways and achieving their sustainability goals.

Energy transitions may provide opportunities for underserved communities. As communities, states, and tribes consider new plans for housing, land use, and transportation development, involving the impacted communities in the decision-making process could help address the legacy of underinvestment and reduce the injustices prevalent in the current systems. Tribal land

provides big potential for renewable projects; Native American land comprises approximately 2% of U.S. land but contains an estimated 5% of all renewable energy resources (U.S. Department of Energy, 2013). Distributed, low-carbon energy generation in underserved communities has the potential to provide economic benefits, for example, by reducing electricity cost and creating new jobs. Distributed energy could also increase local autonomy by reducing reliance on electric utilities, including in the event of grid-scale power outages during extreme weather events. Investment in energy efficiency measures can be a cost-effective way to reduce utility bills in the long-term and improve occupant health. The emergence of technology-enabled on-demand transportation services could reduce the dependence on owning private vehicles and provide opportunities to design improved access to public transportation and individual mobility.

While energy transitions provide opportunities to reduce the inequities prevalent in the current systems, without concerted efforts, energy transitions, even when beneficial in aggregate, may perpetuate and even aggravate existing inequalities (Carley and Konisky, 2020; Fournier et al., 2020). Accessing the benefits of new technologies can be more difficult for some underserved communities due to up front-capital costs, restrictive eligibility requirements for incentives for purchasing technologies, inadequate or older housing stock, the necessary time and ownership aspects for accruing benefits, grid access, the availability of enabling infrastructure, and access to transportation services. As summarized by Carley and Konisky (2020), adopters of renewable and low-carbon energy technologies skew towards higher incomes. Low-income houseowners may lack funds to make the upfront investments for new technologies, and renters may not have the authority to make decisions on building changes. Access to public charging stations for EVs is less for low-income communities and communities of color; and the disparities are even larger in areas with a higher proportion of multi-unit housing (Hsu and Fingerman, 2021). People who have limited access to credit or do not have a smartphone may be locked out of new mobility options. While there are financial incentive programs to encourage adoption, they are also disproportionally utilized by higher-income groups (Ju et al., 2020; Borenstein and Davis, 2016). Barriers for lower-income households include not being able to benefit from certain tax credits in the same way as higher-income households.

Low-income communities not only face barriers to accessing new technologies, they may also disproportionally bear the costs of cleaner energy and new mobility services. For example, California's renewable-energy mandates and carbon cap-and-trade program have created a regressive energy tax, resulting in higher electricity cost in certain counties where household incomes are the lowest (Lesser, 2015). The growing adoption of solar by affluent households can potentially reduce sales for utilities and increase the share of fixed utility costs that low-income households have to pay (Brown et al., 2020). There are also concerns that transportation network companies (TNCs) could potentially displace public transit (Diao et al., 2021; Clewlow and Mishra, 2017). This displacement could potentially lead to a downward cycle of reduced funding for public transit services for those most in need of them.

#### Community Engagement

Realizing the benefits of energy transitions while avoiding adverse and unintended consequences requires engagement with affected communities, such as with tribes in ways that advance tribal

sovereignty and self-determination. This engagement can help build awareness of needs, opportunities, and barriers in an evolving technical, social, and climate-altered environment. This also requires the acknowledgement and study of differences in needs, opportunities, potential impacts, susceptibilities, and vulnerabilities across different types of communities. Relevant community differences may be geographic (e.g., rural and urban areas), socioeconomic, demographic, governmental (e.g., tribal), or other types of characteristics. Research that engages the impacted communities and/or tribes throughout the research process – from defining the research questions and objectives to co-production, translation and dissemination of knowledge, such as building partnerships with local community groups, environmental organizations, public health and environmental agencies, local or tribal governments, and tribal consortia – may enhance scientific research pertinent to providing insights and developing solutions needed for placing us on an equitable pathway to a clean energy and climate resilient future. The enhancement may also help to build capacity for impacted communities or community-based organizations to address their needs and concerns beyond the lifetime of the project.

More information about the community engagement plan requirement is given below, under "Specific Research Areas of Interest/Expected Outputs and Outcomes" (Section I.D) and in the instructions for the "Community Engagement Plan" (Section IV.C.6.e).

# C. Authority and Regulations

The authority for this RFA and resulting awards is contained in the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 7403, Section 103(b)(3).

For research with an international aspect, the above statutes are supplemented, as appropriate, by the National Environmental Policy Act, Section 102(2)(F).

Note that a project's focus is to consist of activities within the statutory terms of EPA's financial assistance authorities; specifically, the statute(s) listed above. Generally, a project must address the causes, effects, extent, prevention, reduction, and elimination of air pollution, water pollution, solid/hazardous waste pollution, toxic substances control, or pesticide control depending on which statute(s) is listed above. Further note applications dealing with any aspect of or related to hydraulic fracking will not be funded by EPA through this program.

Additional applicable regulations include: 2 CFR Part 200, 2 CFR Part 1500, and 40 CFR Part 40 (Research and Demonstration Grants).

#### D. Specific Research Areas of Interest/Expected Outputs and Outcomes

Note to applicant: The term "output" means an environmental activity, effort, and/or associated work products related to an environmental goal or objective, that will be produced or provided over a period of time or by a specified date. The term "outcome" means the result, effect, or consequence that will occur from carrying out an environmental program or activity that is related to an environmental or programmatic goal or objective.

The activities to be funded under this solicitation support EPA's Draft FY 2022-2026 Strategic Plan (<u>https://www.epa.gov/planandbudget/strategicplan</u>). Awards made under this solicitation

will support: Goal 1: Tackle the Climate Crisis, Objective: 1.1 Reduce Emissions that Cause Climate Change and Objective 1.2: Accelerate Resilience and Adaptation to Climate Change Impacts; and Goal 4: Ensure Clean and Healthy Air for All Communities, Objective 4.1: Improve Air Quality and Reduce Localized Pollution and Health Impacts and Objective 4.2: Reduce Exposure to Radiation and Improve Indoor Air, of the Draft Plan. All applications must be for projects that support the goal(s) and objective(s) identified above. The proposed research awards support the STAR Program's goal of stimulating and supporting scientific and engineering research that advances EPA's mission to protect human health and the environment in the area of air quality by supporting measures and strategies for use by state, tribal, and local programs and communities to reduce air pollution.

EPA also requires that grant applicants adequately describe environmental outputs and outcomes to be achieved under assistance agreements (see EPA Order 5700.7A1, Environmental Results under Assistance Agreements, <u>https://www.epa.gov/grants/epa-order-57007a1-epas-policy-environmental-results-under-epa-assistance-agreements</u>). Applicants must include specific statements describing the environmental results of the proposed project in terms of well-defined outputs and, to the maximum extent practicable, well-defined outcomes that will demonstrate how the project will contribute to the goal(s) and objective(s) described above.

Applicants for regular awards should address at least two of the five research areas described below; and early career applicants should address at least one of the five research areas. Applications not addressing the minimum number of research areas may not be rated as highly as those that do. Applications should clearly indicate which research area(s) the application is addressing. Applications addressing more research areas will not necessarily be rated more highly than those that address fewer research areas.

Applicants for regular awards are strongly encouraged to approach the research areas from a multi-disciplinary perspective (e.g., including both social and natural science disciplines).

While the proposed research may focus on a specific geographic (e.g., rural and urban areas), socioeconomic, demographic, governmental (e.g., tribal), or other contexts, and recognizing that each community may have its unique set of contexts, research addressing how the results could be applied or generalized to other locations, demographic groups, etc., or linked to broader theoretical frameworks is encouraged.

In addressing each of the research areas below, applicants are strongly encouraged to consider the resiliency of future energy systems, impacted communities and/or tribes, and policy frameworks. Resiliency is the capacity to adapt to and to recover from unexpected and changing conditions or a range of shocks and stresses (Redman 2014). Applicants are encouraged to consider how energy system transformations affect the resiliency of systems that produce and consume energy and the resiliency of populations and ecosystems with respect to public health and environmental risks, including risks that are anticipated to increase due to climate change.

#### **Research Areas**

- 1. How might air quality, the environment, and public health in underserved communities be improved through the large-scale transformation of the energy sector (e.g., wide-spread adoption of renewable energy sources and energy efficient technologies, electrification of transportation services, and household energy use) while minimizing potential negative impacts (e.g., from disuse or abandonment of obsolete fossil energy infrastructure)? How can existing or new data sources and methods be used to measure impacts and track progress?
- 2. What approaches or strategies can be employed during and after energy transitions to meet the goals of improving air quality and reducing other environmental health burdens while meeting the energy and mobility needs of underserved communities? How do these approaches impact air quality and health burdens over time as the energy system evolves? How can existing or new data sources and methods be used to measure progress towards these goals?
- 3. How do socioeconomic, cultural, behavioral, institutional, and systems factors drive individual and household decisions regarding the adoption of renewable energy sources, energy-efficient technologies and building modifications, and new transportation modes in underserved communities? What are the barriers and enablers of adoption? How do behavioral responses influence the effectiveness of strategies and policies aimed at achieving energy savings and greenhouse gas emission reduction goals?
- 4. How do socioeconomic, organizational, and institutional factors affect decisions at the organizational, governmental and community levels regarding the adoption and diffusion of renewable energy sources, energy-efficient technologies, building modifications, and new transportation modes in underserved communities?
- 5. What multi-pollutant and/or multi-sectoral approaches could be effective at the community, state, or national level in achieving climate, air quality, and other environmental goals in ways that maximize potential positive impacts and minimize potential negative impacts to underserved communities arising from such large-scale transformation? How can existing or new data sources and methods be used to measure these goals?

#### **Expected Outputs and Outcomes**

EPA anticipates research funded under this solicitation to result in an improved scientific foundation for the design of robust, behaviorally-informed policies and programs to support sustainable transitions to renewable and low-carbon energy systems such that these transitions will increase the resiliency of underserved communities and bring about equitable distribution of costs and benefits. Specific outcomes may include, but are not limited to: improved awareness, understanding, and ability to predict the potential public health and environmental risk tradeoffs in underserved communities due to the energy transitions; and enhanced socioeconomic, cultural and behavioral insights that can be applied to increase the adoption and diffusion of desired energy efficient measures, new energy technologies and mobility options.

Expected outputs that contribute to these outcomes may include, but are not limited to:

- reports, presentations, and peer-reviewed journal publications describing improved understanding of how energy system transformation impacts air pollutant emissions, air quality, human health, and the environment; and social science insights that can be applied to the design and implementation of robust, behaviorally-informed policies or efficient markets to support sustainable large-scale energy system transformation that bring about equitable distribution of costs and benefits across populations and socioeconomic groups;
- predictive tools that can be utilized by communities and states, local, and tribal agencies to enable decisions that maximize the public health and environmental benefits of energy transitions;
- communication or education materials that translate research findings into appropriate information for affected populations or communities, public health and environmental professionals, tribes, decision makers and the public; and
- reports documenting lessons learned and best practices for engagement and co-production of knowledge with communities, community-based organizations, and/or tribes.

#### **Environmental Justice**

To the maximum extent practicable, research applications should demonstrate how they will advance environmental justice for underserved communities, as defined in the Synopsis of this solicitation. Underserved communities are often affected by disproportionate impacts. Disproportionate and adverse environmental, human health, climate-related, and other cumulative impacts, as well the accompanying economic challenges of such impacts, may result when greater pollution burdens and/or consequences, and the impact of them, are more likely to affect or have affected the underserved communities described in this solicitation. The impacts may result from various factors including but not limited to being a function of historical trends and policy decisions.

Factors that may indicate disproportionate and adverse impacts as referenced above include: differential proximity and exposure to adverse environmental hazards; greater susceptibility to adverse effects from environmental hazards (due to causes such as age, chronic medical conditions, lack of health care access, or limited access to quality nutrition); unique environmental exposures because of practices linked to cultural background or socioeconomic status (for example, subsistence fishing or farming); cumulative effects from multiple stressors; reduced ability to effectively participate in decision-making processes (due to causes such as lack of or ineffective language access programs, lack of programs to make processes accessible to persons with disabilities, inability to access traditional communication channels, or limited capacity to access technical and legal resources); and degraded physical infrastructure, such as poor housing, poorly maintained public buildings (e.g., schools), or lack of access to transportation.

In addressing the research areas described above in applications, applicants should demonstrate how their project will address the disproportionate and adverse human health, environmental, climate-related and other cumulative impacts, as well as the accompanying economic challenges of such impacts, resulting from industrial, governmental, commercial, and/or other actions that

have affected and/or currently affect the underserved communities. Applicants should also demonstrate how the project benefits the underserved communities, including those that have experienced a lack of resources or other impediments to addressing the impacts identified above that affect their community.

#### **Community Engagement Plan**

A community engagement plan is required. See Section IV.C.6.e. Realizing the benefits of the energy transitions – and avoiding adverse and unintended consequences – necessitates engagement with affected communities, such as with tribes in ways that advance tribal sovereignty and self-determination. This engagement can help build awareness of needs, opportunities, and barriers in a dynamic technical, social, and climate-altered environment. This also requires the acknowledgement and study of differences in needs, opportunities, potential impacts, susceptibilities, and vulnerabilities across different types of communities, whether it is geographic (e.g., rural and urban areas), socioeconomic, demographic, governmental (e.g., tribal), or other types of characteristics.

Therefore, researchers should involve underserved communities, as well as community-based organizations and/or tribes in the design and execution of research objectives. Applications must include a Community Engagement Plan that should, at minimum, describe how the applicants will: a) work in partnership with appropriate partners (MSIs, states, tribes, academia, industry groups, non-profit organizations, associations, and local communities/community-based organizations) to effectively design and implement the proposed project; b) to the extent possible, coordinate with and/or complement other projects or activities being performed by others that will result in a greater positive impact; and c) demonstrate how the proposed project will address the needs and concerns of underserved communities, including how community-based organizations (as defined below) and/or other appropriate parties (e.g., tribes) will be engaged to enhance the project's effectiveness and build capacity for impacted communities or community-based organizations to address their needs and concerns beyond the lifetime of the project.

For the purpose of this announcement, a "community-based organization" generally means an organization that has demonstrated effectiveness as a representative of a community or a significant segment of a community and that helps members of that community obtain environmental, educational, or other social services. A nongovernmental community-based organization must be a nonprofit or not for profit corporation in good standing under State or Tribal law with authority to enter into binding legal agreements. The community-based organization need not be tax exempt under the Internal Revenue Code but may use documentation of tax-exempt status to demonstrate that it is a nonprofit.

Applicants may utilize a Community Engagement Research (CEnR) framework, defined as a collaborative process of research involving researchers and community representatives, to meet this requirement. The CEnR process of scientific inquiry requires that community members or other key community stakeholders be included in the identification of research problems and objectives, and in the formulation of community-driven solutions. Although a range of levels of community involvement can be considered CEnR, CEnR is characterized by substantial

community input and involvement in the project. The applicant will need to justify the level of community involvement that is proposed in the application. While not required, each applicant is encouraged to form a CEnR framework to meet the requirement for community involvement in the project that may include relevant community leaders and a committee or an advisory group. Organizations such as local environmental organizations, public health organizations, health professional associations, state and local governments, tribal governments, tribal consortia, and Tribal Colleges and Universities are possible community partners.

The Community Engagement Plan should:

- Describe the type of collaboration/engagement proposed and what role it will play in the overall project including the degree of partner/community input or engagement in the conceptualization, hypothesis/question development, design, methods, analyses, and implementation of the research. This includes describing how the project addresses engagement with underserved communities, especially local residents in these communities who will be affected by the project, to ensure their meaningful participation with respect to the design, project planning, and performance of the project.
- Describe how the collaboration/engagement will enhance the overall impact of the project such that the project results are useable by state/local/tribal agencies, utilities, and impacted communities. This includes the capacity of the project to translate scientific results into easily understandable outreach and education materials.
- Describe how the collaboration/engagement process will help build capacity for impacted communities and/or community-based organizations to address their needs and concerns related to the research areas described above beyond the lifetime of the project.
- Describe how activities of the project will be coordinated with related or complementary projects and studies.
- Describe how the collaboration/engagement will materialize during project performance. Describe the partner(s') intent to participate in the proposed research including evidence of community support of an active partnership with a community engagement research committee, a community-based organization or advisory group members (e.g., letter(s) of intent or support from MSIs, community leaders, state or local government agencies, non-government organizations, public health professionals, community emergency planners or responders, social workers, child serving organizations, assisted living and nursing homes, utility managers, site managers or operators, decision makers or policy planners). Any letters demonstrating evidence of collaboration and support should be included as part of Section IV.C.10.a. Letters of Intent/Letters of Support.

Applicants that do not plan on collaborating/engaging with other groups in project performance must still include a Community Engagement Plan in their application describing how they will be able to effectively perform and complete the project without such collaboration/engagement.

#### **Innovation and Sustainability**

To the maximum extent practicable, research applications must embody innovation and sustainability. Innovation for the purposes of this RFA is defined as the process of making changes; a new method, custom, or device. Innovative research can take the form of wholly new applications or applications that build on existing knowledge and approaches for new uses. Research applications must include a discussion on how the proposed research is innovative (see Section IV.C.6.a). The goal of sustainability, derived from the U.S. National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA), is to "create and maintain conditions, under which humans and nature can exist in productive harmony, that permit fulfilling the social, economic, and other requirements of present and future generations." Research applications must include a discussion on how the proposed research will seek sustainable solutions that protect the environment and strengthen our communities (see Section IV.C.6.a). Reviewers will draw from all of the abovementioned innovation and sustainability definitions in the review/evaluation process of research applications (see Section V.A).

# E. References

Borenstein, S. and Davis, L. W. The distributional effects of US clean energy tax credits, *Tax Policy and the Economy*, 30, 191–234, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/685597</u>, 2016.

Brown, M. A., Soni, A., Lapsa, M. V., and Southworth, K. Low-Income Energy Affordability: Conclusions from a Literature Review, ORNL/TM-2019/1150, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, United States, <u>https://doi.org/10.2172/1607178</u>, 2020.

Bruzzone, F., Cavallaro, F., and Nocera, S. The integration of passenger and freight transport for first-last mile operations, *Transport Policy*, 100, 31–48, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2020.10.009, 2021.

Carley, S. and Konisky, D. M. The justice and equity implications of the clean energy transition, *Nature Energy*, 5, 569–577, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-020-0641-6</u>, 2020.

Chakraborty, J., Collins, T. W., and Grineski, S. E. Exploring the environmental justice implications of Hurricane Harvey flooding in greater Houston, Texas, *American Journal of Public Health*, 109, 244–250, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304846</u>, 2019.

Clewlow, R. R. and Mishra, G. S. Disruptive Transportation: The Adoption, Utilization, and Impacts of Ride-Hailing in the United States, Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California-Davis, Research Report UCD-ITS-RR-17-07, https://escholarship.org/uc/item/82w2z91j, 2017.

Davies, I. P., Haugo, R. D., Robertson, J. C., and Levin, P. S. The unequal vulnerability of communities of color to wildfire, *PLOS ONE*, 13, e0205825, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205825</u>, 2018.

Diao, M., Kong, H., and Zhao, J. Impacts of transportation network companies on urban mobility, *Nature Sustainability*, 4, 494–500, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-00678-z</u>, 2021.

Drehobl, A. and Ross, L. Lifting the high energy burden in America's largest cities: How energy efficiency can improve low income and underserved communities, American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy,

https://www.aceee.org/sites/default/files/publications/researchreports/u1602.pdf, 2016.

Fournier, E. D., Cudd, R., Federico, F., and Pincetl, S. On energy sufficiency and the need for new policies to combat growing inequities in the residential energy sector, *Elementa: Science of the Anthropocene*, 8, https://doi.org/10.1525/elementa.419, 2020.

Gallagher, C. L. and Holloway, T. Integrating air quality and public health benefits in U.S. decarbonization strategies, *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.563358, 2020.

Heilweil, R. *Networks of self-driving trucks are becoming a reality in the US*, Vox, <u>https://www.vox.com/recode/2020/7/1/21308539/self-driving-autonomous-trucks-ups-freight-network</u>, July 2020.

Hoppe, T. and De Vries, G. Social innovation and the energy transition, *Sustainability*, 11, 141, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11010141</u>, 2019.

Hsu, C.-W. and Fingerman, K. Public electric vehicle charger access disparities across race and income in California, *Transport Policy*, 100, 59–67, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2020.10.003, 2021.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/</u>, In Press, 2021.

Isik, M., Dodder, R., and Kaplan, P. O. Transportation emissions scenarios for New York City under different carbon intensities of electricity and electric vehicle adoption rates, *Nature Energy*, 6, 92–104, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-020-00740-2</u>, 2021.

Jaller, M., Qian, X., & Zhang, X. E-commerce, Warehousing and Distribution Facilities in California: A Dynamic Landscape and the Impacts on Disadvantaged Communities. *UC Office of the President: University of California Institute of Transportation Studies*. http://dx.doi.org/10.7922/G2FJ2F2W, 2020.

Jessel, S., Sawyer, S., and Hernández, D. Energy, poverty, and health in climate change: A comprehensive review of an emerging literature, *Frontier in Public Health*, 7, 357, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00357, 2019.

Johnson, R., Ramsey-White, K., and Fuller, C. H. Socio-demographic Differences in Toxic Release Inventory Siting and Emissions in Metro Atlanta, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13, 747, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13080747</u>, 2016.

Ju, Y., Cushing, L. J., and Morello-Frosch, R. An equity analysis of clean vehicle rebate programs in California, *Climatic Change*, 162, 2087–2105, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02836-w</u>, 2020.

Kontokosta, C. E., Reina, V. J., and Bonczak, B. Energy cost burdens for low-income and minority households, *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 86, 89–105, https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2019.1647446, 2020.

Lesser, J. A. Less Carbon, Higher Prices: How California's Climate Policies Affect Lower-Income Residents, Center for Energy Policy and the Environment at the Manhattan Institute, https://media4.manhattan-institute.org/sites/default/files/eper 17.pdf, 2015

Mikati, I., Benson, A. F., Luben, T. J., Sacks, J. D., and Richmond-Bryant, J. Disparities in distribution of particulate matter emission sources by race and poverty status, *American Journal of Public Health*, 108, 480–485, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304297</u>, 2018.

Miller, C. A., Iles, A., and Jones, C. F. The social dimensions of energy transitions, *Science and Culture*, 22, 135–148, https://doi.org/10.1080/09505431.2013.786989, 2013.

Mohai, P. and Saha, R. Which came first, people or pollution? A review of theory and evidence from longitudinal environmental justice studies, *Environmental Research Letters*, 10, 125011, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/125011, 2015.

Mohai, P., Lantz, P. M., Morenoff, J., House, J. S., and Mero, R. P. Racial and socioeconomic disparities in residential proximity to polluting industrial facilities: Evidence from the Americans' Changing Lives Study, *American Journal of Public Health*, 99, S649–S656, https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.131383, 2009.

Muratori, M. Impact of uncoordinated plug-in electric vehicle charging on residential power demand, *Nature Energy*, 3, 193–201, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-017-0074-z</u>, 2018.

Nopmongcol, U., Grant, J., Knipping, E., Alexander, M., Schurhoff, R., Young, D., Jung, J., Shah, T., and Yarwood, G. Air quality Impacts of electrifying vehicles and equipment across the United States, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51, 2830–2837, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b04868, 2017.

Nye, M., Whitmarsh, L., and Foxon, T. Sociopsychological perspectives on the active roles of domestic actors in transition to a lower carbon electricity economy, Environment and Planning A, *Economy and Space*, 42, 697–714, <u>https://doi.org/10.1068/a4245</u>, 2010.

Ou, Y., Kittner, N., Babaee, S., Smith, S. J., Nolte, C. G., and Loughlin, D. H. Evaluating long-term emission impacts of large-scale electric vehicle deployment in the US using a human-Earth systems model, *Applied Energy*, 300, 117364, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.117364</u>, 2021.

Pastor, M., Sadd, J., and Hipp, J. Which came first? Toxic facilities, minority move-in, and environmental justice, *Journal of Urban Affairs*, 23, 1–21, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/0735-2166.00072</u>, 2016.

Reames, T. G., Reiner, M. A., and Stacey, M. B. An incandescent truth: Disparities in energyefficient lighting availability and prices in an urban U.S. county, *Applied Energy*, 218, 95–103, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.02.143</u>, 2018.

Reames, T. G. Targeting energy justice: Exploring spatial, racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in urban residential heating energy efficiency, *Energy Policy*, 97, 549–558, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.07.048</u>, 2016.

Redman, Charles L. Should sustainability and resilience be combined or remain distinct pursuits? *Ecology and Society*, 19, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-06390-190237</u>, 2014.

Sandoval, C. J. K. Energy access is energy justice: the Yurok Tribe's trailblazing work to close the Native American reservation electricity gap, edited by: Salter, R., Gonzalez, C. G., and Warner, E. a. K., Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd, Cheltenham, 2018.

Schnell, J. L., Naik, V., Horowitz, L. W., Paulot, F., Ginoux, P., Zhao, M., and Horton, D. E. Air quality impacts from the electrification of light-duty passenger vehicles in the United States, *Atmospheric Environment*, 208, 95–102, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2019.04.003</u>, 2019.

Sovacool, B. K. and Griffiths, S. Culture and low-carbon energy transitions, *Nature Sustainability*, 3, 685–693, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-0519-4</u>, 2020.

Steg, L., Perlaviciute, G., and van der Werff, E. Understanding the human dimensions of a sustainable energy transition, *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 805–805, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00805</u>, 2015.

Tessum, C. W., Paolella, D. A., Chambliss, S. E., Apte, J. S., Hill, J. D., and Marshall, J. D. PM2.5 polluters disproportionately and systemically affect people of color in the United States, *Science Advances*, 7, eabf4491, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abf4491</u>, 2021.

U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) Office of Indian Energy Policy and Programs. Developing Clean Energy Projects on Tribal Lands Data and Resources for Tribes, <u>https://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/1134667</u>, 2013.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Climate Change and Social Vulnerability in the United States: A Focus on Six Impacts, EPA 430-R-21-003, <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-09/climate-vulnerability\_september-2021\_508.pdf</u>, 2021.

Vickery, J. and Hunter, L. M. Native Americans: Where in environmental justice research? *Society & Nature Resources*, 29, 36–52, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2015.1045644</u>, 2016.

Wang, H., Fang, Y.-P., and Zio, E. Risk assessment of an electrical power system considering the influence of traffic congestion on a hypothetical scenario of electrified transportation system in New York State, *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 22, 142–155, https://doi.org/10.1109/TITS.2019.2955359, 2021.

Yuan, Q. Does context matter in environmental justice patterns? Evidence on warehousing location from four metro areas in California, *Land Use Policy*, 82, 328–338, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.12.011</u>, 2019.

# F. Special Requirements

It is EPA Policy to ensure that the results of EPA-funded extramural scientific research are accessible to the public to the greatest extent feasible consistent with applicable law; policies and Orders; the Agency's mission; resource constraints; and U.S. national, homeland and economic security. This entails maximizing, at no charge, access by the public to peer-reviewed, scientific research journal publications or associated author manuscripts, and their underlying digital research data, created in whole or in part with EPA funds, while protecting personal privacy; recognizing proprietary interests, confidential business information, and intellectual property rights; and avoiding significant negative impact on intellectual property rights, innovation, and U.S. competitiveness. EPA's *Policy for Increasing Access to Results of EPA-Funded Extramural* 

*Scientific Research* may be accessed at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/research/non-epa-researcher-requirements</u>. Terms and conditions implementing this policy may be accessed at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/research/non-epa-researcher-requirements</u>.

Applications submitted under this announcement shall include a Scientific Data Management Plan (SDMP) that addresses public access to EPA-funded scientific research data. See the SDMP clause in Section IV for details on the content of an SDMP. Applicants will also be asked to provide past performance information on whether journal publications or associated author manuscripts, and the associated underlying scientific research data and metadata, under prior assistance agreements were made publicly accessible. These items will be evaluated prior to award.

Reasonable, necessary and allocable costs for data management and public access as discussed in EPA's *Policy for Increasing Access to Results of EPA-Funded Extramural Scientific Research*, may be included in extramural research applications and detailed in the budget justification described in Section IV.

Agency policy and ethical considerations prevent EPA technical staff and managers from providing applicants with information that may create an unfair competitive advantage. Consequently, EPA employees will not review, comment, advise, and/or provide technical assistance to applicants preparing applications in response to EPA RFAs. EPA employees cannot endorse any particular application.

Multiple Investigator applications may be submitted as: (1) a single Lead Principal Investigator (PI) application with Co-PI(s) or (2) a Multiple PI application (with a single Contact PI). If you choose to submit a Multiple PI application, you must follow the specific instructions provided in Sections IV and V of this RFA. For further information, please see the EPA Implementation Plan for Policy on Multiple Principal Investigators (https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-grants-guidance-and-policies).

Please note: Early career awards will not accommodate a Multiple PI application. Early career awards shall be submitted as a single Lead PI application. Special eligibility criteria apply to the early career portion of this RFA. Please see Section III of this RFA for details on the early career eligibility criteria. The application must include an early career verification (see "Early Career Verification" in Section IV.C.6.f).

This solicitation provides the opportunity for the submission of applications for projects that may involve human subjects research. All applications must include a Human Subjects Research Statement (HSRS; described in Section IV.C.6.c of this solicitation). If the project involves human subjects research, it will be subject to an additional level of review prior to funding decisions being made as described in Sections V.D and V.F of this solicitation.

Groups of two or more eligible applicants may choose to form a consortium and submit a single application for this assistance agreement. The application must identify which organization will be the recipient of the assistance agreement and which organizations(s) will be subawardees of the recipient.

These awards may involve the collection of "Geospatial Information," which includes information that identifies the geographic location and characteristics of natural or constructed features or boundaries on the Earth or applications, tools, and hardware associated with the generation, maintenance, or distribution of such information. This information may be derived from, among other things, a Geographic Positioning System (GPS), remote sensing, mapping, charting, and surveying technologies, or statistical data.

#### G. Additional Provisions for Applicants Incorporated into the Solicitation

Additional provisions that apply to sections III, IV, V, and VI of this solicitation and/or awards made under this solicitation, can be found at <u>EPA Solicitation Clauses</u>. These provisions are important for applying to this solicitation and applicants must review them when preparing applications for this solicitation. If you are unable to access these provisions electronically at the website above, please contact the EPA point of contact listed in this solicitation (usually in Section VII) to obtain the provisions.

# **II. AWARD INFORMATION**

It is anticipated that a total of approximately \$10 million will be awarded under this announcement, depending on the availability of funds, quality of applications received, and other applicable considerations. The EPA anticipates funding approximately 11 (6 regular and 5 early career) awards under this RFA. Requests for amounts in excess of a total of \$1,125,000 per regular award and in excess of a total of \$650,000 per early career award, including direct and indirect costs, will not be considered. The total project period requested in an application submitted for this RFA may not exceed four years.

As stated above, EPA intends to award 6 regular applications and 5 early career applications (as defined in Section III.A). This is an estimate and is subject to change based on funding levels, the quality of applications received, and other applicable considerations. See Section V.F. Funding Decisions for additional information.

The EPA reserves the right to reject all applications and make no awards, or make fewer awards than anticipated, under this RFA. The EPA reserves the right to make additional awards under this announcement, consistent with Agency policy, if additional funding becomes available after the original selections are made. Any additional selections for awards will be made no later than six months after the original selection decisions.

In appropriate circumstances, EPA reserves the right to partially fund applications by funding discrete portions or phases of proposed projects. If EPA decides to partially fund an application, it will do so in a manner that does not prejudice any applicants or affect the basis upon which the application, or portion thereof, was evaluated and selected for award, and therefore maintains the integrity of the competition and selection process.

EPA may award both grants and cooperative agreements under this announcement.

Under a *grant*, EPA scientists and engineers are not permitted to be substantially involved in the execution of the research. However, EPA encourages interaction between its own laboratory scientists and grant Principal Investigators after the award of an EPA grant for the sole purpose of exchanging information in research areas of common interest that may add value to their respective research activities. This interaction must be incidental rather than substantial to achieving the goals of the research under a grant. Interaction that is "incidental" does not involve resource commitments by EPA.

Where appropriate, based on consideration of the nature of the proposed project relative to the EPA's intramural research program and available resources, the EPA may award *cooperative* agreements under this announcement. A cooperative agreement is an assistance agreement that is used when there is substantial federal involvement with the recipient during the performance of an activity or project. EPA awards cooperative agreements for those projects in which it expects to have substantial interaction with the recipient throughout the recipient's performance of the project. When addressing a research question/problem of common interest, collaborations between EPA scientists and the institution's principal investigators are permitted under a cooperative agreement. These collaborations may include data and information exchange; providing technical input to experimental design and theoretical development; coordinating extramural research with in-house activities; the refinement of valuation endpoints; in accordance with 2 CFR 200.317 and 2 CFR 200.318, as appropriate, review of proposed procurements, reviewing qualifications of key personnel, and/or review and comment on the content of printed or electronic publications prepared; and joint authorship of journal articles on these activities. Note EPA does not have the authority to select employees or contractors employed by the recipient and the final decision on the content of reports rests with the recipient. EPA will negotiate the precise terms and conditions of "substantial involvement" as part of the award process. Applications may not identify EPA cooperators, specific interactions between EPA's investigators and those of the prospective recipient for cooperative agreements will be negotiated at the time of award.

#### **III. ELIGIBILITY INFORMATION**

Note: Additional provisions that apply to this section can be found at <u>EPA Solicitation Clauses</u>.

#### A. Eligible Applicants

Public and private nonprofit institutions/organizations, public and private institutions of higher education (IHEs), and hospitals located in the U.S. and its territories or possessions; state and local governments; Federally Recognized Indian Tribal Governments; and U.S. territories or possessions are eligible to apply. Profit-making firms and individuals are not eligible to apply.

Consistent with the definition of Nonprofit organization at 2 CFR § 200.1, the term nonprofit organization means any corporation, trust, association, cooperative, or other organization that is operated mainly for scientific, educational, service, charitable, or similar purpose in the public interest and is not organized primarily for profit; and uses net proceeds to maintain, improve, or expand the operation of the organization. The term includes tax-exempt nonprofit neighborhood and labor organizations. Note that 2 CFR 200.1 specifically excludes Institutions of Higher Education from the definition of non-profit organization because they are separately defined in

the regulation. While not considered to be a nonprofit organization(s) as defined by 2 CFR 200.1, public or nonprofit Institutions of Higher Education are, nevertheless, eligible to submit applications under this RFA. Hospitals operated by state, tribal, or local governments or that meet the definition of nonprofit at 2 CFR 200.1 are also eligible to apply as nonprofits or as instrumentalities of the unit of government depending on the applicable law. For-profit colleges, universities, trade schools, and hospitals are ineligible.

Nonprofit organizations that are not exempt from taxation under section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code must submit other forms of documentation of nonprofit status; such as certificates of incorporation as nonprofit under state or tribal law. Nonprofit organizations exempt from taxation under section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code that lobby are not eligible for EPA funding as provided in the Lobbying Disclosure Act, 2 U.S.C. 1611.

Foreign governments, international organizations, and non-governmental international organizations/institutions are not eligible to apply.

National laboratories funded by Federal Agencies (Federally-Funded Research and Development Centers, "FFRDCs") may not apply. FFRDC employees may cooperate or collaborate with eligible applicants within the limits imposed by applicable legislation and regulations. They may participate in planning, conducting, and analyzing the research directed by the applicant, but may not direct projects on behalf of the applicant organization. The institution, organization, or governance receiving the award may provide funds through its assistance agreement from the EPA to an FFRDC for research personnel, supplies, equipment, and other expenses directly related to the research. However, salaries for permanent FFRDC employees may not be provided through this mechanism.

Federal Agencies may not apply. Federal employees are not eligible to serve in a principal leadership role on an assistance agreement. Federal employees may not receive salaries or augment their Agency's appropriations through awards made under this program unless authorized by law to receive such funding.

The applicant institution may enter into an agreement with a Federal Agency to purchase or utilize unique supplies or services unavailable in the private sector to the extent authorized by law. Examples are purchase of satellite data, chemical reference standards, analyses, or use of instrumentation or other facilities not available elsewhere. A written justification for federal involvement must be included in the application. In addition, an appropriate form of assurance that documents the commitment, such as a letter of intent from the Federal Agency involved, should be included.

The early career awards will support research performed by PIs with outstanding promise at the Assistant Professor or equivalent level. Principal investigators from applicant institutions applying for the early career portion of the RFA must meet the following additional eligibility requirements:

1. Hold a doctoral degree in a field related to the research being solicited by the closing date of the RFA;

2. Be untenured at the closing date of the RFA; and

3. By the award date, be employed in a tenure-track position (or tenure-track-equivalent position) as an assistant professor (or equivalent title) at an institution in the U.S., its territories, or possessions. Note: For a position to be considered a tenure-track-equivalent position, it must meet all of the following requirements: (1) the employing department or organization does not offer tenure; (2) the appointment is a continuing appointment; (3) the appointment has substantial educational responsibilities; and (4) the proposed project relates to the employee's career goals and job responsibilities as well as to the goals of the department/organization.

The application must include an early career verification (see "Early Career Verification" in Section IV.C.6.f).

Potential applicants who are uncertain of their eligibility should contact Ron Josephson in ORD, phone: 202-564-7823, email: josephson.ron@epa.gov.

# B. Cost sharing

Institutional cost-sharing is not required.

# C. Other

Applications must substantially comply with the application submission instructions and requirements set forth in Section IV of this announcement or they will be rejected. In addition, where a page limitation is expressed in Section IV with respect to parts of the application, pages in excess of the page limit will not be reviewed. In addition, applications must be submitted through Grants.gov as stated in Section IV of this announcement (except in the limited circumstances where another mode of submission is specifically allowed for as explained in Section IV) on or before the application submission deadline published in Section IV of this announcement. Applicants are responsible for following the submission instructions in Section IV of this announcement (see Section IV.F. "Submission Instructions and Other Submission Requirements" for further information) to ensure that their application is submitted timely. Applications submitted after the submission deadline will be considered late and deemed ineligible without further consideration unless the applicant can clearly demonstrate that it was late due to EPA mishandling or because of technical problems associated with Grants.gov or relevant SAM.gov system issues. An applicant's failure to timely submit their application through Grants.gov because they did not timely or properly register in SAM.gov or Grants.gov will not be considered an acceptable reason to consider a late submission.

In order to be deemed eligible, the application must include a Community Engagement Plan (see Section IV.C.6.e.) that demonstrates collaboration/engagement with partner(s)/community(ies) in the design and execution of the proposed research or how the applicant will be able to effectively perform and complete the project without such collaboration/engagement.

Also, applications exceeding the funding limits or project period term described herein will be rejected without review. Further, applications that fail to demonstrate a public purpose of support

or stimulation (e.g., by proposing research which primarily benefits a Federal program or provides a service for a Federal agency) will not be funded.

Applications deemed ineligible for funding consideration will be notified within fifteen calendar days of the ineligibility determination.

# **IV. APPLICATION AND SUBMISSION INFORMATION**

Note: Additional provisions that apply to this section can be found at EPA Solicitation Clauses.

# Formal instructions for submission through Grants.gov are in Section F.

# A. Grants.gov Submittal Requirements and Limited Exception Procedures

Applicants must apply electronically through <u>Grants.gov</u> under this funding opportunity based on the grants.gov instructions in this announcement. If your organization has no access to the internet or access is very limited, you may request an exception for the remainder of this calendar year by following the procedures outlined <u>here</u>. Please note that your request must be received at least 15 calendar days before the application due date to allow enough time to negotiate alternative submission methods. Issues with submissions with respect to this opportunity only are addressed in section *F. Submission Instructions and Other Submission Requirements* below.

# **B.** Application Package Information

Use the application package available at <u>Grants.gov</u> (see Section IV.F. "Submission Instructions and Other Submission Requirements"). Note: With the exception of the current and pending support form (available at <u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>), all necessary forms are included in the electronic application package. Make sure to include the current and pending support form in your Grants.gov submission.

An email will be sent by ORD to the Lead/Contact PI and the Administrative Contact (see below) to acknowledge receipt of the application and transmit other important information. The email will be sent from receipt.application@epa.gov; emails to this address will not be accepted. *If you do not receive an email acknowledgement within 10 calendar days of the submission closing date, immediately inform the Electronic Submissions Contact shown in this solicitation. Failure to do so may result in your application not being reviewed.* See Section IV.F. "Submission Instructions and Other Submission Requirements" for additional information regarding the application receipt acknowledgment.

# C. Content and Form of Application Submission

The application is made by submitting the materials described below. Applications must contain all information requested and be submitted in the formats described.

# 1. Standard Form 424

The applicant must complete Standard Form 424. Instructions for completion of the SF424 are included with the form. However, note that EPA requires that the entire requested dollar amount appear on the SF424, not simply the proposed first year expenses. The form must contain the signature of an authorized representative of the applying organization.

This program is eligible for coverage under E.O. 12372, "Intergovernmental Review of Federal Programs." An applicant should consult the office or official designated as the single point of contact in his or her State for more information on the process the State requires to be followed in applying for assistance, if the State has selected the program for review. EPA financial assistance programs and activities subject to intergovernmental review that have been selected for review under State single point of contact procedures are identified at <a href="https://www.epa.gov/grants/epa-financial-assistance-programs-subject-executive-order-12372-and-section-204-demonstration">https://www.epa.gov/grants/epa-financial-assistance-programs or activities subject to Intergovernmental Review that have not been selected for State single point of contact review must provide directly affected State, areawide, regional, and local entities at least 60 days to review their application following notification by EPA that the application has been selected for funding as provided by 40 CFR 29.8(a) and (c).

# 2. Key Contacts

The applicant must complete the "Key Contacts" form found in the <u>Grants.gov</u> application package. An "Additional Key Contacts" form is also available at <u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>. The Key Contacts form should also be completed for major sub-agreements (i.e., primary investigators). Do not include information for consultants or other contractors. Please make certain that all contact information is accurate.

For Multiple PI applications: The Additional Key Contacts form *must* be completed (see Section I.F. for further information). *Note: The Contact PI must be affiliated with the institution submitting the application. EPA will direct all communications related to scientific, technical, and budgetary aspects of the project to the Contact PI; however, any information regarding an application will be shared with any PI upon request.* The Contact PI is to be listed on the Key Contact Form as the Project Manager/Principal Investigator (the term Project Manager is used on the Grants.gov form, the term Principal Investigator is used on the form located at <a href="https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms">https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</a>). For additional PIs, complete the Major Co-Investigator fields and identify PI status next to the name (e.g., "Name: John Smith, Principal Investigator").

# **3. EPA Form 4700-4, Preaward Compliance Review Report for All Applicants and Recipients Requesting EPA Financial Assistance (available at**

https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms).

# 4. Table of Contents

Provide a list of the major subdivisions of the application indicating the page number on which each section begins.

# **5.** Abstract (1 page)

**The abstract is a very important document in the review process.** Therefore, it is critical that the abstract accurately describes the research being proposed and conveys all the essential elements of the research. Also, the abstracts of applications that receive funding will be posted on EPA's Research Grants website.

The abstract must include the information described below (a-h). Examples of abstracts for current grants may be found on <u>EPA's Research Grants website</u>.

- a. Funding Opportunity Title and Number for this application.
- b. Project Title: Use the exact title of your project as it appears in the application. The title must be brief yet represent the major thrust of the project. Because the title will be used by those not familiar with the project, use more commonly understood terminology. Do not use general phrases such as "research on."
- c. Investigators: For applications with multiple investigators, state whether this is a single Lead PI (with co-PIs) or Multiple PI application (see Section I.F.). For Lead PI applications, list the Lead PI, then the name(s) of each co-PI who will significantly contribute to the project. For Multiple PI applications, list the Contact PI, then the name(s) of each additional PI. Provide a website URL or an email contact address for additional information.
- d. Institution(s): In the same order as the list of investigators, list the name, city and state of each participating university or other applicant institution. The institution applying for assistance must be clearly identified.
- e. Project Period and Location: Show the proposed project beginning and ending dates and the performance site(s)/geographical location(s) where the work will be conducted.
- f. Project Cost: Show the total funding requested from the EPA (include direct and indirect costs for all years).
- g. Project Summary: Provide three subsections addressing: (1) the objectives of the study (including any hypotheses that will be tested), (2) the experimental approach to be used (a description of the proposed project) and (3) the expected results (outputs/outcomes) of the project and how it addresses the research needs identified in the solicitation, including the estimated improvement in risk assessment or risk management that will result from successful completion of the proposed work.
- h. Supplemental Keywords: Without duplicating terms already used in the text of the abstract, list keywords to assist database searchers in finding your research. A list of suggested

keywords may be found at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>.

#### 6. Research Plan, Quality Assurance Statement, Human Subjects Research Statement, Scientific Data Management Plan, Community Engagement Plan, Early Career Verification, and References

a. Research Plan (15 pages)

Applications should focus on a limited number of research objectives that adequately and clearly demonstrate that they meet the RFA requirements. Explicitly state the main hypotheses that you will investigate, the data you will create or use, the analytical tools you will use to investigate these hypotheses or analyze these data and the results you expect to achieve. Research methods must be clearly stated so that reviewers can evaluate the appropriateness of your approach and the tools you intend to use. A statement such as: "we will evaluate the data using the usual statistical methods" is not specific enough for peer reviewers.

This description must not exceed fifteen (15) consecutively numbered (bottom center), 8.5x11inch pages of single-spaced, standard 12-point type with 1-inch margins. While these guidelines on page size, point type and margins establish the minimum type size requirements, applicants are advised that readability is of paramount importance and should take precedence in selection of an appropriate font for use in the application.

The description must provide the following information:

- (1) Objectives: List the objectives of the proposed research and the hypotheses being tested during the project, and briefly state why the intended research is important, how it supports the Agency's research priorities and how it fulfills the requirements of the solicitation. This section should also include any background or introductory information that would help explain the objectives of the study. If this application is to expand upon research supported by an existing or former assistance agreement awarded under the STAR program, indicate the number of the agreement and provide a brief report of progress and results achieved under it.
- (2) Approach/Activities: Outline the research design, methods, and techniques that you intend to use in meeting the objectives stated above.
- (3) Environmental Justice: Demonstrate how the project will address the disproportionate and adverse human health, environmental, climate-related, and other cumulative impacts described in Section I of this solicitation, as well as the accompanying economic challenges of such impacts, resulting from industrial, governmental, commercial, and/or other actions that have affected and/or currently affect the underserved communities defined in the Synopsis of this solicitation. Applicants should also demonstrate how the project benefits the underserved communities including those that have experienced a lack of resources or other impediments to addressing the impacts identified above that affect their community.

(4) a. Innovation: Describe how your project shifts current research or engineering paradigms by using innovative theoretical concepts, approaches or methodologies, instrumentation or interventions applicable to one or more fields of research.

b. Sustainability: Describe how your project embodies the principles of sustainability and seeks sustainable solutions that protect the environment and strengthen our communities. The sustainability primer (<u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-05/documents/sustainability\_primer\_v9.pdf</u>) provides examples of research activities that promote and incorporate sustainability principles.

- (5) Expected Results, Benefits, Outputs and Outcomes: Describe the expected outputs and outcomes resulting from the project. This section should also discuss how the research results will lead to solutions to environmental problems and improve the public's ability to protect the environment and human health. A clear, concise description will help ORD and peer reviewers understand the merits of the research.
- (6) Project Management: Discuss other information relevant to the potential success of the project. This should include facilities, personnel expertise/experience, project schedules with associated milestones and target dates, proposed management, interactions with other institutions, etc. Describe the approach, procedures, and controls for ensuring that awarded grant funds will be expended in a timely and efficient manner and detail how project objectives will be successfully achieved within the grant period. Describe how progress toward achieving the expected results (outputs and outcomes) of the research will be tracked and measured. Applications for multi-investigator projects must identify project management and the functions of each investigator in each team and describe plans to communicate and share data.
- (7) Appendices may be included but must remain within the 15-page limit.
- b. Quality Assurance Statement (3 pages)

For projects involving environmental data collection or processing, conducting surveys, modeling, method development, or the development of environmental technology (whether hardware-based or via new techniques), provide a Quality Assurance Statement (QAS) regarding the plans for processes that will be used to ensure that the products of the research satisfy the intended project objectives. Follow the guidelines provided below to ensure that the QAS describes a system that complies with EPA Quality Standards found at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/quality/agency-wide-quality-program-documents</u>. Do not exceed three consecutively numbered, 8.5x11-inch pages of single-spaced, standard 12-point type with 1-inch margins.

# **NOTE:** If selected for award, applicants will be expected to provide additional quality assurance documentation.

Address each applicable section below by including the required information, referencing the specific location of the information in the Research Plan or explaining why the section does not apply to the proposed research. (Not all will apply)

(1) Identify the individual who will be responsible for the quality assurance (QA) and quality control (QC) aspects of the research along with a brief description of this person's functions, experience and authority within the research organization. Describe the schedule and type of assessments to be conducted along with the corrective action process for each assessment proposed. Describe the organization's general approach for conducting quality research. (QA is a system of management activities to ensure that a process or item is of the type and quality needed for the project. QC is a system of activities that measures the attributes and performance of a process or item against the standards defined in the project documentation to verify that they meet those stated requirements).

(2) Discuss project objectives, including quality objectives, any hypotheses to be tested, and the quantitative and/or qualitative procedures that will be used to evaluate the success of the project. Include any plans for peer or other reviews of the study design or analytical methods.

- (3) Address each of the following project elements as applicable:
- (a) Collection of new/primary data:

(Note: In this case the word "sample" is intended to mean any finite part of a statistical population whose properties are studied to gain information about the whole. If certain attributes listed below do not apply to the type of samples to be used in your research, simply explain why those attributes are not applicable).

- (i) Discuss the plan for sample collection and analysis. As applicable, include sample type(s), frequency, locations, sample sizes, sampling procedures, and the criteria for determining acceptable data quality (e.g., precision, accuracy, representativeness, completeness, comparability, or data quality objectives).
- (ii) Describe the procedures for the handling and custody of samples including sample collection, identification, preservation, transportation, and storage, and how the accuracy of test measurements will be verified.
- (iii)Describe or reference each analytical method to be used, any QA or QC checks or procedures with the associated acceptance criteria and any procedures that will be used in the calibration and performance evaluation of the analytical instrumentation.
- (iv)Discuss the procedures for overall data reduction, analysis, and reporting. Include a description of all statistical methods to make inferences and conclusions, acceptable error rates and/or power, and any statistical software to be used.
- (b) Use of existing/secondary data (i.e., data previously collected for other purposes or from other sources):

- (i) Identify the types of secondary data needed to satisfy the project objectives. Specify requirements relating to the type of data, the age of data, geographical representation, temporal representation, and technological representation, as applicable.
- (ii) Specify the source(s) of the secondary data and discuss the rationale for selection.
- (iii) Establish a plan to identify the sources of the secondary data in all deliverables/products.
- (iv) Specify quality requirements and discuss the appropriateness for their intended use. Accuracy, precision, representativeness, completeness, and comparability need to be addressed, if applicable.
- (v) Describe the procedures for determining the quality of the secondary data.
- (vi) Describe the plan for data management/integrity.
- (c) Method development:

(*Note:* The data collected for use in method development or evaluation should be described in the QAS as per the guidance in section 3A and/or 3B above).

Describe the scope and application of the method, any tests (and measurements) to be conducted to support the method development, the type of instrumentation that will be used, and any required instrument conditions (e.g., calibration frequency), planned QC checks and associated criteria (e.g., spikes, replicates, blanks) and tests to verify the method's performance.

#### (d) Development or refinement of models:

(*Note:* The data collected for use in the development or refinement of models should be described in the QAS as per the guidance in section 3A and/or 3B above).

- (i) Discuss the scope and purpose of the model, key assumptions to be made during development/refinement, requirements for code development, and how the model will be documented.
- (ii) Discuss verification techniques to ensure the source code implements the model correctly.
- (iii)Discuss validation techniques to determine that the model (assumptions and algorithms) captures the essential phenomena with adequate fidelity.
- (iv)Discuss plans for long-term maintenance of the model and associated data.
- (e) Development or operation of environmental technology: (*Note:* The data collected for use in the development or evaluation of the technology should be described in the QAS as per the guidance in section 3A and/or 3B above).

- (i) Describe the overall purpose and anticipated impact of the technology.
- (ii) Describe the technical and quality specifications of each technology component or process that is to be designed, fabricated, constructed, and/or operated.
- (iii)Discuss the procedure to be used for documenting and controlling design changes.
- (iv)Discuss the procedure to be used for documenting the acceptability of processes and components and discuss how the technology will be benchmarked and its effectiveness determined.
- (v) Discuss the documentation requirements for operating instructions/guides for maintenance and use of the system(s) and/or process(s).

#### (f) Conducting surveys:

(Note: The data to be collected in the survey and any supporting data should be described in the QAS as per the guidance in section 3A and/or 3B above).

Discuss the justification for the size of the proposed sample for both the overall project and all subsamples for specific treatments or tests. Identify and explain the rational for the proposed statistical techniques (e.g., evaluation of statistical power).

(4) Discuss data management activities (e.g., record-keeping procedures, data-handling procedures, and the approach used for data storage and retrieval on electronic media). Include any required computer hardware and software and address any specific performance requirements for the hardware/software configuration used.

c. EPA Human Subjects Research Statement (HSRS) (4 pages)

Human subjects research supported by the EPA is governed by EPA Regulation 40 CFR Part 26 (Protection of Human Subjects). This includes the Common Rule at subpart A and prohibitions and additional protections for pregnant women and fetuses, nursing women and children at subparts B, C and D. While retaining the same notation, subparts B, C and D are substantively different in 40 CFR Part 26 than in the more commonly cited 45 CFR 46. Particularly noteworthy is that research meeting the regulatory definition of intentional exposure research found in subpart B is prohibited by that subpart in pregnant women, nursing women and children. Research meeting the regulatory definition of observational research (any research that is not intentional exposure research) found in subparts C and D is subject to the additional protections found in those subparts for pregnant women and fetuses (subpart C) and children (subpart D). These subparts also differ markedly from the language in 45 CFR 46. For more information, please see: <u>https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjects-research-0</u>.

Procedures for the review and oversight of human research subject to 40 CFR Part 26 are also provided in EPA Order 1000.17A (<u>https://www.epa.gov/osa/epa-order-100017-policy-and-procedures-protection-human-research-subjects-epa-conducted-or</u>). These include review of

projects for EPA-supported human research by the EPA Human Subjects Research Review Official (HSRRO). Additional requirements must be met and final approval must be received from the HSRRO before the human subjects' portion of the research can begin. When reviewing human observational exposure studies, EPA Order 1000.17A requires the HSRRO to apply the principles described in the SEAOES document

(<u>https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/P10012LY.PDF?Dockey=P10012LY.PDF</u>) and grant approval only to studies that adhere to those principles.

All applications submitted under this solicitation must include a HSRS as described below. For more information about what constitutes human subjects research, please see: <u>https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjects-research-0</u>. For information on the prohibition on the inclusion of vulnerable subjects in intentional exposure research, please see: <u>https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjects-research-0</u>.

#### Human Subjects Research Statement (HSRS) Requirements

If the proposed research <u>does not</u> involve human subjects as defined above, provide the following statement in your application package as your HSRS: "The proposed research does not involve human subjects." Applicants should provide a clear justification about how the proposed research does not meet the definition (for example, all samples come from deceased individuals OR samples are purchased from a commercial source and provided without identifiers, etc.).

If the proposed research <u>does</u> involve human subjects, then include in your application package a HSRS that addresses each applicable section listed below, referencing the specific location of the information in the Research Plan, providing the information in the HSRS or explaining why the section does not apply to the proposed research. (Not all will apply). Please note that even research that has been determined to be exempt from the human subjects regulations by an IRB must be reviewed by the EPA HSRRO. Therefore, consider exempt research to include human subjects work for this EPA solicitation. Do not exceed **four** consecutively numbered, 8.5x11-inch pages of single-spaced, standard 12-point type with 1-inch margins. The factors below are not intended to be exhaustive of all those needed for the HSRRO to provide the final approval necessary for research to be conducted but provide a basis upon which the human subjects oversight review may begin.

NOTE: Researchers must provide evidence of an assurance on file with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) or other Federal Agency that it will comply with regulatory provisions in the Common Rule. In special circumstances where there is no such assurance, EPA will work with investigators to obtain an assurance from HHS or another source.

#### Complete all items below for studies involving human subjects.

Protection of Human Subjects (\*Adapted from National Institutes of Health Supplemental Instructions for PHS 398 and SF424 (R&R) II-10)

1. Risks to Human Subjects

a. Human Subjects Involvement, Characteristics and Design

• Describe and justify the proposed involvement of human subjects in the work outlined in the Research Strategy section.

• Describe the characteristics of the subject population, including their anticipated number, age range, and health status, if relevant.

• Describe and justify the sampling plan, including retention strategies and the criteria for inclusion or exclusion of any subpopulation.

• Explain the rationale for the involvement of special vulnerable populations, such as pregnant women, children, or others who may be considered vulnerable populations.

• If relevant to the proposed research, describe procedures for assignment to a study group. As related to human subject's protection, describe and justify the selection of an intervention's dose, frequency, and administration.

• List any collaborating sites where human subjects research will be performed and describe the role of those sites and collaborating investigators in performing the proposed research. Explain how data from the site(s) will be obtained, managed, and protected.

b. Sources of Materials

• Describe the research material obtained from living individuals in the form of specimens, records, or data.

• Describe any data that will be collected from human subjects for the project(s) described in the application.

• Indicate who will have access to individually identifiable private information about human subjects.

• Provide information about how the specimens, records, and/or data are collected, managed and protected as well as whether material or data that include individually identifiable private information will be collected specifically for the proposed research project.

c. Potential Risks

• Describe all the potential risks to subjects posed by participation in the research (physical, psychological, financial, legal, or other), and assess their likelihood and seriousness to the human subjects.

• Where appropriate, describe alternative treatments and procedures, including the risks and potential benefits of the alternative treatments and procedures, to participants in the proposed research.

#### 2. Adequacy of Protection Against Risks

a. Recruitment and Informed Consent

• Describe plans for the recruitment of subjects (where appropriate) and the process for obtaining informed consent. If the proposed studies will include children, describe the process for meeting requirements for parental permission and child assent.

• Include a description of the circumstances under which consent will be sought and obtained, who will seek it, the nature of the information to be provided to prospective subjects and the method of documenting consent. If a waiver of some or all of the elements of informed consent will be sought, provide justification for the waiver.

b. Protections Against Risk

• Describe planned procedures for protecting against or minimizing potential risks, including risks to privacy of individuals or confidentiality of data and assess their likely effectiveness.

• Research involving vulnerable populations, as described in the EPA regulations, Subparts B-D, must include additional protections. Refer to EPA guidance:

• Prohibition of Research Conducted or Supported by EPA Involving Intentional Exposure of Human Subjects who are Children or Pregnant or Nursing Women

https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjectsresearch-0

• Additional Protections for Pregnant Women and Fetuses Involved as Subjects in Observational Research Conducted or Supported by EPA

https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjectsresearch-0

• Additional Protections for Children Involved as Subjects in Observational Research Conducted or Supported by EPA

https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjectsresearch-0

• Where appropriate, discuss plans for ensuring necessary medical or professional intervention in the event of adverse effects to the subjects. Studies that involve clinical trials must include a general description of the plan for data and safety monitoring of the clinical trials and adverse event reporting to the IRB, the DSMB (if one has been established for the trial), the EPA and others, as appropriate, to ensure the safety of subjects.

- 3. Potential Benefits of the Proposed Research to Human Subjects and Others
  - Discuss the potential benefits of the research to research participants and others.
    - Discuss why the risks to subjects are reasonable in relation to the anticipated benefits to research participants and others.
    - Please note that financial compensation of subjects is not considered to be a benefit of participation in research.
- 4. Importance of the Knowledge to be Gained
  - Discuss the importance of the knowledge to be gained as a result of the proposed research.
  - Discuss why the risks to subjects are reasonable in relation to the importance of the knowledge that reasonably may be expected to result.

**Note that an Interventional Study (or Clinical Trial)** is a clinical study in which participants are assigned to receive one or more interventions (or no intervention) so that researchers can evaluate the effects of the interventions on biomedical or health-related outcomes; the assignments are determined by the study protocol.

d. Scientific Data Management Plan (2 pages)

Applications submitted in response to this solicitation must include a Scientific Data Management Plan (SDMP) that addresses public access to EPA-funded scientific research data by including the information below:

(1) If the proposed research described in the application is expected to result in the generation of scientific research data, the application must include a Scientific Data Management Plan (SDMP) of up to two single-spaced pages (this is in addition to any application page limits described in Section IV of this solicitation that apply to other parts of the application package) describing plans for providing long-term preservation of, and public access to, the scientific research data and accompanying metadata created and/or collected under the award (including data generated under subawards and contracts) funded in whole or in part by EPA. The SDMP should indicate that recipients will make accessible, at a minimum, scientific research data and associated metadata underlying their scientific research journal publications funded in whole or in part by EPA. SDMPs should reflect relevant standards and community best practices for data and metadata and make use of community-accepted repositories whenever practicable. The contents of the SDMP (or absence thereof) will be considered as part of the application review process for selected applicants as described in Section V and must be deemed acceptable for the applicant to receive an award. The SDMP should include the following elements (Note: If any of the items listed below do not apply, please explain why):

i. Types of scientific research data and metadata expected to be generated and/or collected under the award.

ii. The location where the data will be publicly accessible.

iii. The standards to be used for data/metadata format and content.

iv. Policies for accessing and sharing data including provisions for appropriate protection of privacy, security, intellectual property, and other rights or requirements consistent with applicable laws, regulations, rules, and policies.

v. Plans for digital data storage, archiving, and long-term preservation that address the relative value of long-term preservation and access along with the associated costs and administrative burden.

vi. Description of how data accessibility and preservation will enable validation of published results or how such results could be validated if data are not shared or preserved.

vii. Roles and responsibilities for ensuring SDMP implementation and management (including contingency plans in case key personnel leave the project).

viii. Resources and capabilities (equipment, connections, systems, software, expertise, etc.) requested in the research application that are needed to meet the stated goals for accessibility and preservation (reference can be made to the relevant section of the research application's budget justification).

ix. If appropriate, an explanation as to why data accessibility and/or preservation are not possible.

(2) If the proposed research is not expected to result in the generation of scientific research data, provide the following statement (not subject to any application page limits described in Section IV of this solicitation) in your application as the SDMP: "The proposed research is not expected to result in the generation of scientific research data." If scientific research data are generated after award, the recipient agrees to update the statement by providing EPA with a revised SDMP

(see content of SDMP described above) describing how scientific research data and accompanying metadata created and/or collected under the award (including data generated under subawards and contracts) will be preserved and, as appropriate, made publicly accessible.

e. Community Engagement Plan (5 pages, not including letters of intent/support)

Provide a plan to detail strategies for promoting and/or obtaining collaboration/engagement and support from appropriate partners such as MSIs, states, tribes, academia, industry groups, nonprofit organizations, associations, underserved communities, and community-based organizations. Researchers are strongly encouraged to partner with underserved community(ies) as defined in Section I. Applicants should document the following:

- Describe the type of collaboration/engagement proposed and what role it will play in the overall project including the degree of partner/community input or engagement in the conceptualization, hypothesis/question development, design, methods, analyses, and implementation of the research. This includes describing how the project addresses engagement with underserved communities, especially local residents in these communities who will be affected by the project, to ensure their meaningful participation with respect to the design, project planning, and performance of the project.
- Describe how the collaboration/engagement will enhance the overall impact of the project such that the project results are useable by state/local/tribal agencies, utilities, and impacted communities. This includes the capacity of the project to translate scientific results into easily understandable outreach and education materials.
- Describe how the collaboration/engagement process will help build capacity for impacted communities and/or community-based organizations to address their needs and concerns related to the research areas described in Section I.D (Specific Research Areas of Interest/Expected Outputs and Outcomes) beyond the lifetime of the project.
- Describe how activities of the project will be coordinated with related or complementary projects and studies.
- Describe how the collaboration/engagement will materialize during project performance. Describe the partner(s)' intent to participate in the proposed research including evidence of community support of an active partnership with a community engagement research committee, a community-based organization or advisory group members (e.g., letter(s) of intent or support from community leaders; MSIs, state or tribal government agencies, non-government organizations; public health professionals, community emergency planners or responders, social workers, child serving organizations, assisted living and nursing homes, utility managers, site managers or operators, decision makers or policy planners). Any letters demonstrating evidence of collaboration and support should be included as part of Section IV.C.10.a. Letters of Intent/Letters of Support.
- Applicants that do not plan on collaborating/engaging with other groups in project performance should describe how they will be able to effectively perform and complete the project without such collaboration/engagement.

• Allocate appropriate resources as needed to the research partners to ensure success of the collaboration, e.g., delineating funds under the project's budget for community participation. Examples include:

i. travel/stipends for partners and community members to participate in advisory group meetings, workshops, and focus groups,

ii. subawards to eligible organizations for their involvement in the proposed research.

Applicants may utilize a Community Engagement Research (CEnR) framework, defined as a collaborative process of research involving researchers and community representatives, to meet this requirement. The CEnR process of scientific inquiry requires that community members or other key community stakeholders be included in the identification of research problems and objectives, and in the formulation of community-driven solutions. Although a range of levels of community involvement can be considered CEnR, CEnR is characterized by substantial community input and involvement in the project. The applicant will need to justify the level of community involvement that is proposed in the application. While not required, each applicant is encouraged to form a CEnR framework to meet the requirement for community involvement in the project that may include relevant community leaders and a committee or an advisory group.

In the plan, the applicant should also identify the methods of community engagement and communication. There are many possible methods that could be employed, including, but not limited to, the following illustrative examples:

- Including substantial contributions from, or leadership by, community groups in application development and project execution.
- Budgeting for subawards to eligible organizations for their involvement in the proposed research.
- Assessing community needs and interest through workshops.
- Forming an advisory board to gain diverse perspectives on various aspects of the project's communications.
- Analyzing, sharing, and communicating data in ways that maximize meaning and usefulness for communities and that lead to accurate lessons for communities and individuals.
- Sharing data through a website or through other means.
- Holding events to share research plans or research results.

EPA requires that estimated amounts for subawards and individual participant support costs be classified as "Other" for the purposes of the budget table (aka SF-424A). Please see (EPA Solicitation Clauses) for EPA guidance on competition for contractors (including consulting contracts) and acceptable noncompetitive subawards. Applicants may provide subawards to partners to enhance project effectiveness and/or efficiency. Note that applicants, not EPA, will select their subawardees and the applicants must demonstrate in their application that the organization(s) or other groups are willing to accept the subaward and have the capacity to effectively administer and perform the agreement. The selected applicant who proposes to make subawards, including those to partners must follow proper procedures in making subawards and will be expected to make the subawards consistent with their application.

f. Early Career Verification (1 page)

For early career awards, provide the following statement in your application package verifying that you meet the early career eligibility requirements: "I verify that:

1. I hold a doctoral degree in a field related to the research being solicited by the closing date of the RFA;

2. I am untenured at the closing date of the RFA, and

3. I am, or expect to be, employed in a tenure-track position (or tenure-track-equivalent position) as an assistant professor (or equivalent title) at an institution in the U.S., its territories, or possessions by the award date."

Note: For a position to be considered a tenure-track-equivalent position, it must meet all of the following requirements: (1) the employing department or organization does not offer tenure; (2) the appointment is a continuing appointment; (3) the appointment has substantial educational responsibilities; and (4) the proposed project relates to the employee's career goals and job responsibilities as well as to the goals of the department/organization.

g. References: References cited are in addition to other page limits (e.g., research plan, quality assurance statement).

# 7. Budget and Budget Justification

a. Budget

Prepare a master budget table using "SF-424A Budget Information for Non-Construction Programs" (aka SF-424A), available in the <u>Grants.gov</u> electronic application package and also at <u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>. Only complete "Section B-Budget Categories". Provide the object class budget category (a. - k.) amounts for each budget year under the "Grant Program, Function or Activity" heading. Each column reflects a separate budget year. For example, Column (1) reflects budget year 1. The total budget will be automatically tabulated in column (5).

Applicants may not use subagreements to transfer or delegate their responsibility for successful completion of their EPA assistance agreement. Please refer to <u>https://www2.epa.gov/grants/epa-solicitation-clauses#Contracts and Subawards</u> if your organization intends to identify specific contractors, including consultants, or subrecipients in your application.

Please note that institutional cost-sharing is not required.

b. Budget Justification [3 pages in addition to the Section IV.C.6 page limitations]

Identify the amount requested for each budget category and describe the basis for calculating the personnel, fringe benefits, travel, equipment, supplies, contractual support, and other costs identified in the SF-424A. The budget justification should not exceed three consecutively

numbered (bottom center), 8.5x11-inch pages of single-spaced, standard 12-point type with 1inch margins. EPA provides detailed guidance on preparing budgets and budget justifications in the Agency's <u>Interim General Budget Development Guidance for Applicants and Recipients of</u> <u>EPA Financial Assistance</u>.

Budget information must be supported at the level of detail described below:

(1) Personnel: List all staff positions by title. Give annual salary, percentage of time assigned to the project, total cost for the budget period, project role, and specify any annual cost of living adjustments. Compensation paid for employees engaged in grant activities must be consistent with payments for similar work within the applicant organization. Note that for salaries to be allowable as a direct charge to the award, a justification of how that person will be directly involved in the project must be provided. General administrative duties such as answering telephones, filing, typing, or accounting duties are not considered acceptable.

Position/Title	Annual Salary	% of Time Assigned to Project	Year 1	Year 2*	Year 3*	Total
Project	\$70,000	50%	\$35,000	\$36,050	\$37,132	\$108,182
Manager						
Env.	\$60,000	100%	\$60,000	\$61,800	\$63,654	\$185,454
Specialist						
Env. Health	\$45,000	100%	\$45,000	\$46,350	\$47,741	\$139,091
Tech						
Total			\$140,000	\$144,200	\$148,527	\$432,727
Personnel						

Below is a sample computation for Personnel:

\*There is a 3% increase after Year 1 for all personnel for cost of living adjustments

Note this budget category is limited to persons employed by the applicant organization ONLY. Those employed elsewhere are classified as subawardees, program participants, contractors, or consultants. Contractors and consultants should be listed under the "Contractual" budget heading. Subawards made to eligible subrecipients are listed under the "Other" budget heading. Participant support costs such as stipends or travel assistance for trainees (e.g. interns or fellows) are listed under the "Other" budget heading.

(2) Fringe Benefits: Identify the percentage used and the basis for its computation. Fringe benefits are for the personnel listed in budget category (1) above and only for the percentage of time devoted to the project. Fringe benefits include but are not limited to the cost of leave, employee insurance, pensions and unemployment benefit plans. The applicant should not combine the fringe benefit costs with direct salaries and wages in the personnel category.

Below is a sample computation for Fringe Benefits:

	Base Fringe %	Costs				
Position/Title	Rate	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Total	
Project Manager	47.22%	\$16,527	\$17,022	\$17,533	\$51,082	
Env. Specialist	50.83%	\$30,498	\$31,413	\$32,355	\$94,266	
Total Fringe Benefits						
*An annual inflation rate of 3% has been factored into years 2 and 3 of the fringe benefits.						

(3) Travel: In a table format, specify the estimated number of trips, purpose of each trip, number of travelers per trip, destinations, and other costs for each type of travel for applicant employees. Travel costs for program participants should be specified in the "Other" budget category. Explain the need for any travel, paying particular attention to travel outside the United States. Foreign travel includes trips to Mexico and Canada but does not include trips to Puerto Rico, the U.S. territories or possessions. If EPA funds will not be used for foreign travel, the budget justification must expressly state that the applicant will not use EPA funds for foreign travel without approval by EPA. Include travel funds for annual STAR program progress reviews (estimate for two days in Washington, D.C.) and a final workshop to report on results.

Purpose of Travel	Location	Item	Computation	Cost
EPA STAR Progress Review	Washington DC	Lodging	4 people x \$100 per night x 2 nights	\$800
		Airfare	4 people x \$500 round trip	\$2,000
		Per Diem	4 people x 50 per day x 2 days	\$400
Total Travel				\$3,200

Below is a sample computation for Travel:

- (4) Equipment: Identify all tangible, non-expendable personal property to be purchased that has an acquisition cost of \$5,000 or more per unit and a useful life of more than one year. Equipment also includes accessories and services included with the purchase price necessary for the equipment to be operational. It does not include: (1) equipment planned to be leased/rented; or (2) separate equipment service or maintenance contracts. Details such as the type of equipment, cost, and a brief narrative on the intended use of the equipment for project objectives are required. Each item of equipment must be identified with the corresponding cost. Particular brands of equipment should not be identified. General-purpose equipment (office equipment, etc.) must be justified as to how it will be used on the project. (Property items with a unit cost of less than \$5,000 are considered supplies).
- (5) Supplies: "Supplies" are tangible property other than "equipment" with a per item acquisition cost of less than \$5,000. Include a brief description of the supplies required to perform the work. Costs should be categorized by major supply categories (e.g. office

supplies, computing devices, monitoring equipment) and include the estimated costs by category.

(6) Contractual: List the proposed contractual activities along with a brief description of the scope of work or services to be provided, the proposed duration of the contract/procurement, the estimated cost, and the proposed procurement method (competitive or non-competitive). Any procurement of services from individual consultants or commercial firms (including space for workshops) must comply with the competitive procurement requirements of 2 CFR Part 200.317-200.326. Please see <a href="https://www2.epa.gov/grants/epa-solicitation-clauses#Contracts and Subawards">https://www2.epa.gov/grants/epa-solicitation-clauses#Contracts and Subawards for more details. EPA provides detailed guidance on procurement requirements in the Agency's Best Practice Guide for Procuring Services, Supplies, and Equipment Under EPA Assistance Agreements.

Examples of Contractual costs include:

i. Consultants – Consultants are individuals with specialized skills who are paid at a daily or hourly rate. EPA's participation in the salary rate (excluding overhead) paid to individual consultants retained by recipients or by a recipient's contractors or subcontractors is limited to the maximum daily rate for a Level IV of the Executive Schedule (formerly GS-18), to be adjusted annually.
ii. Speaker/Trainer Fees – Information on speakers should include the fee and a description of the services they are providing.

- (7) Other: List each item in sufficient detail for the EPA to determine the reasonableness of its cost relative to the research to be undertaken. "Other" items may include equipment rental, telephone service and utilities and photocopying costs. Note that subawards, such as those with other universities or nonprofit research institutions for members of the research team, are included in this category. Provide the total costs proposed for subawards as a separate line item in the budget justification and brief description of the activities to be supported for each subaward or types of subawards if the subrecipients have not been identified. Subawards may not be used to acquire services from consultants or commercial firms. Please see https://www2.epa.gov/grants/epasolicitation-clauses#Contracts and Subawards for more details. The "Other" budget category also includes participant support costs such as stipends or travel assistance for trainees (e.g. interns or fellows). Provide the total costs proposed for participant support costs as a separate line item in the budget justification and brief description of the costs. If EPA funds will not be used for foreign travel by program participants, the budget justification must expressly state that the applicant will not use EPA funds for foreign travel without approval by EPA.
- (8) Indirect Costs: For additional information pertaining to indirect costs, please see the IDC Competition Clause at <u>Additional Provisions for Applicants Incorporated into the</u> <u>Solicitation</u>.

#### 8. Resumes

Provide resumes for each investigator and important co-worker. You may include resumes from staff of subawardees such as universities. Do not include resumes of consultants or other contractors. The resume is not limited to traditional materials but should provide materials to clearly and appropriately demonstrate that the investigator has the knowledge needed to perform their component of the proposed research. The resume for each individual must not exceed two consecutively numbered (bottom center), 8.5x11-inch pages of single-spaced, standard 12-point type with 1-inch margins.

Alternative to a standard resume, you may use a profile such as an NIH BioSketch that can be generated in SciENcv (see <u>https://grants.nih.gov/grants/forms/biosketch.htm</u> for information on the BioSketch; also see <u>https://www.nlm.nih.gov/pubs/techbull/so13/so13\_sciencv.html</u> for information on SciENcv). These materials should generally conform to the requirements for a resume (e.g., content and page number).

# 9. Current and Pending Support

Complete a current and pending support form (provided at <u>https://www.epa.gov/research-grants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>) for each investigator and important co-worker. Do not include current and pending support for consultants or other contractors. Include all current and pending research regardless of source.

*Note to all prospective applicants requiring multiple Current and Pending Support Form pages:* Due to a limitation in Adobe Acrobat's forms functionality, additional pages cannot be directly inserted into the original PDF form and preserve the form data on the subsequent pages. Multiple page form submissions can be created in Acrobat 8 and later using the "PDF Package" option in the "Create PDF from Multiple Files" function. If you have an earlier version of Adobe Standard or Professional, applicants will need to convert each PDF page of the form to an EPS (Encapsulated Post Script) file before creating the PDF for submission. The following steps will allow applicants with earlier versions of Adobe Standard or Professional to create a PDF package:

- 1. Populate the first page of the PDF and save it as an EPS (Encapsulated Post Script) file.
- 2. Reopen the form and populate it with the data for page 2. Save this page as a different EPS file. Repeat for as many pages as necessary.
- 3. Use Acrobat Distiller to convert the EPS files back to PDF.
- 4. Open Acrobat Professional and combine the individual pages into a combined PDF file.

#### 10. Guidelines, Limitations, and Additional Requirements

a. Letters of Intent/Letters of Support

*Letters of intent* to provide resources for the proposed research or to document intended interactions are limited to one brief paragraph committing the availability of a resource (e.g., use of a person's time or equipment) or intended interaction (e.g., sharing of data, as-needed consultation) that is described in the Research Plan. Letters of intent are to be included as an

addition to the budget justification documents. EPA employees are not permitted to provide letters of intent for any application.

*Letters of support* do not commit a resource vital to the success of the application. A letter of support is written by businesses, organizations, or community members stating their support of the applicant's proposed project. EPA employees are not permitted to provide letters of support for any application.

Note: Letters of intent or support must be part of the application; letters submitted separately will not be accepted. Any letter of intent or support that exceeds one brief paragraph (excluding letterhead and salutations), is considered part of the Research Plan and is included in the 15-page Research Plan limit. Any transactions between the successful applicant and parties providing letters of intent or support financed with EPA grant funds are subject to the contract and subaward requirements described here <a href="https://www2.epa.gov/grants/epa-solicitation-clauses#Contracts">https://www2.epa.gov/grants/epa-solicitation-clauses#Contracts and Subawards</a>.

b. Funding Opportunity Number(s) (FON)

At various places in the application, applicants are asked to identify the FON.

Applicants must select the FON corresponding to either the regular award or the early career award. It is the responsibility of the applicant to identify the proper FON. Failure to do so could result in an inappropriate peer review assignment. Each application must be submitted using a single FON.

# The Funding Opportunity Numbers for this RFA are:

EPA-G2022-STAR-F1, Drivers and Environmental Impacts of Energy Transitions in Underserved Communities EPA-G2022-STAR-F2, Early Career: Drivers and Environmental Impacts of Energy Transitions in Underserved Communities

c. Confidentiality

By submitting an application in response to this solicitation, the applicant grants the EPA permission to make limited disclosures of the application to technical reviewers both within and outside the Agency for the express purpose of assisting the Agency with evaluating the application. Information from a pending or unsuccessful application will be kept confidential to the fullest extent allowed under law; information from a successful application may be publicly disclosed to the extent permitted by law.

# **D.** Submission Dates and Times

Applications **must be transferred to Grants.gov no later than 11:59:59 pm Eastern Time** on the solicitation closing date. Applications transferred after the closing date and time will be

returned to the sender without further consideration. EPA will not accept any changes to applications after the closing date.

It should be noted that this schedule may be changed without prior notification because of factors not anticipated at the time of announcement. In the case of a change in the solicitation closing date, a new date will be posted on EPA's Research Grants website (https://www.epa.gov/research-grants) and a modification posted on Grants.gov.

Solicitation Closing Date: **April 28, 2022** 11:59:59 pm Eastern Time (applications *must* be submitted to Grants.gov by this time, see Section IV.F "Submission Instructions and Other Submission Requirements" for further information).

NOTE: Customarily, applicants are notified about evaluation decisions within six months of the solicitation closing date. Awards are generally made 9-12 months after the solicitation closing date.

# **E.** Funding Restrictions

The funding mechanism for all awards issued under STAR solicitations will consist of assistance agreements from the EPA. All award decisions are subject to the availability of funds. In accordance with the Federal Grant and Cooperative Agreement Act, 31 U.S.C. 6301 et seq., the primary purpose of an assistance agreement is to accomplish a public purpose of support or stimulation authorized by federal statute, rather than acquisition for the direct benefit or use of the Agency. In issuing a grant, the EPA anticipates that there will be no substantial EPA involvement in the design, implementation, or conduct of the research. However, the EPA will monitor research progress through annual reports provided by grantees and other contacts, including site visits (as needed), with the Principal Investigator(s).

EPA award recipients may incur allowable project costs 90 calendar days before the Federal awarding agency makes the Federal award. Expenses more than 90 calendar days pre-award require prior approval of EPA. All costs incurred before EPA makes the award are at the recipient's risk. EPA is under no obligation to reimburse such costs if for any reason the recipient does not receive a Federal award or if the Federal award is less than anticipated and inadequate to cover such costs.

If you wish to submit applications for more than one STAR funding opportunity you must ensure that the research proposed in each application is significantly different from any other that has been submitted to the EPA or from any other financial assistance you are currently receiving from the EPA or other federal government agency.

Collaborative applications involving more than one institution must be submitted as a single administrative package from one of the institutions involved.

Each proposed project must be able to be completed within the project period and with the initial award of funds. Applicants should request the entire amount of money needed to complete the

project. Recipients should not anticipate additional funding beyond the initial award of funds for a specific project.

#### F. Submission Instructions and Other Submission Requirements

Please read this entire section before attempting an electronic submission through Grants.gov.

If you do not have the appropriate internet access to utilize the Grants.gov application submission process for this solicitation, see Section IV.A above for additional guidance and instructions.

Note: Grants.gov submission instructions are updated on an as-needed basis. Please provide your Authorized Organizational Representative (AOR) with a copy of the following instructions to avoid submission delays that may occur from the use of outdated instructions.

1. Preparing for Submission: The electronic submission of your application must be made by an official representative of your institution who is registered with Grants.gov and is authorized to sign applications for Federal assistance. For more information on the registration requirements that must be completed in order to submit an application through Grants.gov, go to <u>Grants.gov</u> and click on "Applicants" on the top of the page and then go to the "Organization Registration" link listed under the "Get Registered" section and follow the instructions. Please note, this process can take a month or more for new registrants. Applicants must ensure that all registration requirements are met in order to apply for this opportunity through Grants.gov and should ensure that all such requirements have been met well in advance of the submission deadline. Registration on Grants.gov, SAM.gov, and obtaining a DUNS number assignment is FREE.

Existing and new SAM.gov registrants are also assigned a free SAM-issued Unique Entity Identifier (UEI). Applicants must use their UEI, not their DUNS number, when filling out forms in the package for this funding opportunity. Please see <u>RAIN-2021-G01</u> for information about EPA's implementation of the upcoming Government-wide transition from DUNS to UEI. Please note that until April 4, 2022, applicant organizations registering for the first time in SAM.gov will need a DUNS number.

Applicants need to ensure that the AOR who submits the application through Grants.gov and whose UEI is listed on the application is an AOR for the applicant listed on the application. Additionally, the UEI listed on the application must be registered to the applicant organization's SAM account. If not, the application may be deemed ineligible.

To begin the application process under this grant announcement, go to <u>https://www.grants.gov/</u> and click on "Applicants" on the top of the page and then "How to Apply for Grants" from the drop-down menu and then follow the instructions accordingly. Please note: To apply through Grants.gov, you must use Adobe Reader software and download the compatible Adobe Reader version. For more information about Adobe Reader, to verify compatibility, or to download the free software, please visit <u>https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/applicants/adobe-software-compatibility.html</u>.

You may also be able to access the application package for this announcement by searching for the opportunity on <u>https://www.grants.gov/</u>. Go to <u>https://www.grants.gov/</u> and click "Search Grants" at the top of the page and enter the Funding Opportunity Number, EPA-G2022-STAR-F1 or EPA-G2022-STAR-F2, or the CFDA number that applies to the announcement (66.509), in the appropriate field under "Basic Search Criteria" and click the Search button.

Note: All applications must now be submitted through <u>Grants.gov</u> using the "Workspace" feature. Information on the Workspace feature can be found at the <u>Grants.gov Workspace</u> <u>Overview Page</u>.

2. Acknowledgement of Receipt: The complete application must be transferred to Grants.gov no later than 11:59:59 pm Eastern Time on the solicitation closing date (see "Submission Dates and Times"). Applications submitted through Grants.gov will be time and date stamped electronically. Grants.gov provides an on-screen notification of successful initial transfer as well as an email notification of successful transfer from Grants.gov to EPA. While it is advisable to retain copies of these Grants.gov acknowledgements to document submission, *the only official documentation that the application has been received by ORD is the email acknowledgement sent by ORD to the Lead/Contact PI and the Administrative Contact.* This email will be sent from receipt.application@epa.gov; emails to this address will not be accepted. *If an email acknowledgement from* receipt.application@epa.gov has not been received within 10 calendar days of the solicitation closing date, immediately inform the Electronic Submissions Contact shown in this solicitation. Failure to do so may result in your application not being reviewed.

3. Application Package Preparation: Your organization's AOR must submit your complete application package electronically to EPA through Grants.gov (<u>https://www.grants.gov/</u>) no later than **April 28, 2022**, 11:59:59 pm Eastern Time. Please allow for enough time to successfully submit your application and allow for unexpected errors that may require you to resubmit.

Please submit all of the application materials described below using the Grants.gov application package accessed using the instructions above.

The application package consists of the following mandatory documents.

(a) Application for Federal Assistance (SF 424): Complete the form except for the "competition ID" field.

(b) EPA Key Contacts Form 5700-54: Complete the form. If additional pages are needed, see (e) below.

(c) EPA Form 4700-4, Preaward Compliance Review Report for All Applicants and Recipients Requesting EPA Financial Assistance: Complete the form.

(d) SF-424A, Budget Information for Non-Construction Programs: Only complete "Section B-Budget Categories". Provide the object class budget category (a. - k.) amounts for each budget year under the "Grant Program, Function or Activity" heading. Each column reflects a separate budget year. (e) Project Narrative Attachment Form (click on "Add Mandatory Project Narrative"): Attach a single electronic PDF file labeled "Application" that contains the items described in Section IV.C.4. through IV.C.10.a [Table of Contents, Abstract, Research Plan, Quality Assurance Statement, Human Subjects Research Statement, Scientific Data Management Plan, Community Engagement Plan, Early Career Verification (for early career awards), References, Budget Justification, Resumes, Current and Pending Support, and Letters of Intent/Support] of this solicitation. *In order to maintain format integrity*, *this file must be submitted in Adobe Acrobat PDF*. Please review the PDF file for conversion errors prior to including it in the electronic application package; requests to rectify conversion errors will not be accepted if made after the solicitation closing date and time. If Key Contacts Continuation pages (see <u>https://www.epa.gov/researchgrants/research-funding-opportunities-how-apply-and-required-forms</u>) are needed, place them before the EPA Form 4700-4, Preaward Compliance Review Report for All Applicants and Recipients Requesting EPA Financial Assistance (Section IV.C.3.).

Once the application package has been completed, the "Submit" button should be enabled. If the "Submit" button is not active, please call Grants.gov for assistance at 1-800-518-4726. Applicants who are outside the U.S. at the time of submittal and are not able to access the toll-free number may reach a Grants.gov representative by calling 606-545-5035. Investigators should save the completed application package with two different file names before providing it to the AOR to avoid having to re-create the package should submission problems happen, or a revised application needs to be submitted. Note: Revised applications must be submitted before the solicitation closing date and time.

4. Submitting the application: The application package must be transferred to Grants.gov by an AOR. The AOR should close all other software before attempting to submit the application package. Click the "submit" button of the application package. Your Internet browser will launch and a sign-in page will appear. *Note: Minor problems are not uncommon with transfers to Grants.gov. It is essential to allow sufficient time to ensure that your application is submitted to Grants.gov BEFORE 11:59:59 pm Eastern Time on the solicitation closing date (See Section IV.D).* The Grants.gov support desk operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week, except Federal Holidays.

A successful transfer will end with an on-screen acknowledgement. For documentation purposes, print or screen capture this acknowledgement. If a submission problem occurs, reboot the computer – turning the power off may be necessary – and re-attempt the submission.

Note: Grants.gov issues a "case number" upon a request for assistance.

5. Transmission Difficulties: If transmission difficulties that result in a late transmission, no transmission or rejection of the transmitted application are experienced and following the above instructions do not resolve the problem so that the application is submitted to Grants.gov by the deadline date and time, follow the guidance below. The Agency will make a decision concerning each late submission on a case-by-case basis as to whether it should be forwarded for peer

review. All emails, as described below, are to be sent to jones.debram@epa.gov with the FON in the subject line.

Be aware that EPA will only consider accepting applications that were unable to transmit due to Grants.gov or relevant <u>www.Sam.gov</u> system issues or for unforeseen exigent circumstances, such as extreme weather interfering with internet access. Failure of an applicant to submit timely because they did not properly or timely register in SAM.gov or Grants.gov is not an acceptable reason to justify acceptance of a late submittal.

Please note that if the application you are submitting is greater than 70 MB in size, please call or send an email message to the Electronic Submissions Contact listed for this RFA. The Agency may experience technical difficulty downloading files of this size from Grants.gov. Therefore, it is important that the Agency verify that the file can be downloaded. The Agency will provide alternate submission instructions if the file cannot be downloaded.

(a) If you are experiencing problems resulting in an inability to upload the application to Grants.gov, it is essential to call Grants.gov for assistance at 1-800-518-4726 before the application deadline. Applicants who are outside the U.S. at the time of submittal and are not able to access the toll-free number may reach a Grants.gov representative by calling 606-545-5035. Be *sure* to obtain a case number from Grants.gov. If the problems stem from unforeseen exigent circumstances unrelated to Grants.gov, such as extreme weather interfering with internet access, contact Debra M. Jones (jones.debram@epa.gov).

(b) Unsuccessful transfer of the application package: If a successful transfer of the application cannot be accomplished even with assistance from Grants.gov due to electronic submission issues or unforeseen exigent circumstances, send an email message to Debra M. Jones (jones.debram@epa.gov) by 11:59:59 pm Eastern Time on the solicitation closing date. The email message must document the problem and include the Grants.gov case number as well as the entire application in PDF format as an attachment.

(c) Grants.gov rejection of the application package: If a notification is received from Grants.gov stating that the application has been rejected for reasons other than late submittal, promptly send an email to Debra M. Jones (jones.debram@epa.gov) with the FON in the subject line within one business day of the closing date of this solicitation. The email should include any materials provided by Grants.gov and attach the entire application in PDF format.

Please note that successful submission through Grants.gov or via email does not necessarily mean your application is eligible for award.

#### V. APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION

Note: Additional provisions that apply to this section can be found at <u>EPA Solicitation Clauses</u>.

#### A. Peer Review

All eligible grant applications are reviewed by appropriate external technical peer reviewers based on the criteria and process described below. This review is designed to evaluate each

application according to its scientific merit. The individual external peer reviewers include non-EPA scientists, engineers, social scientists, and/or economists who are accomplished in their respective disciplines and proficient in the technical subjects they are reviewing.

Prior to the external technical peer review panel meeting, all reviewers will receive access to electronic copies of all applications. Each application will be assigned to a minimum of three primary peer reviewers, one of whom will be assigned the role of Rapporteur. Each reviewer will be assigned up to approximately 10 applications on which to serve as a primary reviewer. During the review period leading up to the panel meeting, primary reviewers read the entire application package for each application they are assigned. The primary reviewers will also prepare a written individual evaluation for each assigned application that addresses the peer review criteria described below and rate the application with a score of excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor. To promote a better panel discussion, all reviewers must, at a minimum, read the abstracts of all applications.

At the beginning of the panel meeting, each primary reviewer will report their ratings for the applications they reviewed. Those applications receiving at least two ratings of *Very Good* or one rating of *Excellent* from among the primary reviewers will then be further discussed by the entire panel in terms of the peer review criteria below. In addition, if there is one *Very Good* rating among the primary reviewers of an application, the primary reviewer, whose initial rating is the *Very Good*, may request discussion of the application by the peer review panel. All other applications will be declined for further consideration.

After the discussion of an application by the panel, the primary reviewers may revise their initial ratings and if they do so, this will also be documented. The final ratings of the primary reviewers will then be translated by EPA into the final peer review score (excellent, very good, good, fair or poor) for the application. This is reflected in a peer review results document developed by the Rapporteur which combines the individual initial and final evaluations of the primary reviewers and captures any substantive comments from the panel discussion. This score will be used to determine which applications undergo the internal relevancy and past performance review discussed below. A peer review results document is also developed for applications that are not discussed. However, this document is a consolidation of the individual primary reviewers initial evaluations, with an average of the scores assigned by the primary reviewers.

As noted in this RFA, EPA is soliciting both regular applications and early career applications. There will be separate ranking lists for regular and early career applications. As explained further below, selections will be made based on both lists.

Peer reviewers consider an application's merit based on the extent to which the application demonstrates the criteria below. Criteria are listed in descending order of importance (i.e., Criteria 1 has the heaviest weight).

- 1. <u>Research Merits</u> (subcriteria are in descending order of importance):
  - a. The degree to which the application demonstrates that the research is original and contributes to the scientific knowledge in the topic area. And the degree to which the

application demonstrates that the project (and its approach) is defensible and technically feasible, and uses appropriate and adequate research methods.

- b. The degree to which the application demonstrates that the project results will produce benefits to the public (such as improvements to the environment or human health) and will be disseminated to enhance scientific and technological understanding.
- 2. <u>Responsiveness</u>: The degree to which the application demonstrates that the research is responsive to the objectives and research areas of interest specified by the RFA, including whether regular applications address at least two of the research areas described in Section I.D and whether early career applications address at least one of the research areas described in Section I.D.
- 3. <u>Project Management</u> (subcriteria are equally weighted):
  - a. <u>Investigators</u>: The degree to which the application demonstrates that the Principal Investigator(s) and other key personnel have the appropriate qualifications to effectively perform the project (including research training, demonstrated knowledge of pertinent literature, experience and publication records).
  - b. <u>Management</u>: The degree to which the application demonstrates that the project will be adequately managed to ensure the timely and successful achievement of objectives using appropriate project schedules and milestones. And the degree to which the application demonstrates the applicant will adequately track and measure progress toward achieving expected results (outputs and outcomes).
  - c. <u>Quality Assurance (QA)</u>: The degree to which the application includes an appropriate and adequate QA Statement.
  - d. <u>Resources and Cost Controls</u>: The degree to which the application demonstrates that the facilities, equipment and budget are appropriate, adequate, and available. And the degree to which the application demonstrates that well-defined and acceptable approaches, procedures and controls are used to ensure timely and efficient expenditure of awarded grant funds.
- 4. <u>Environmental Justice</u>: The degree to which the application demonstrates how the project will address the disproportionate and adverse human health, environmental, climate-related, and other cumulative impacts described in Section I of the solicitation, as well as the accompanying economic challenges of such impacts, resulting from industrial, governmental, commercial, and/or other actions that have affected and/or currently affect the underserved communities described in the Synopsis of the solicitation. As part of this evaluation, applications will be evaluated based on how the project benefits the underserved

communities including those that have experienced a lack of resources or other impediments to addressing the impacts identified above that affect their community.

- 5. <u>Community Engagement Plan</u> (subcriteria are equally weighted):
  - a. The degree to which the Plan clearly describes the type of collaboration/engagement proposed, and what role it will play in the overall project including the degree of partner and/or community input or engagement in the conceptualization, hypothesis/question development, design, methods, analyses, and implementation of the research. This includes the degree to which the Plan addresses engagement with underserved communities, especially local residents in these communities who will be affected by the project, to ensure their meaningful participation with respect to the design, project planning, and performance of the project. If an applicant does not plan on collaborating/engaging with other groups in project performance, the degree to which the Plan clearly describes how the applicant will be able to effectively perform and complete the project without such collaboration/engagement will be evaluated.
  - b. The degree to which the Plan clearly describes how the collaboration/engagement will: 1) enhance the overall impact of the project such that project results are useable by state/local/tribal agencies, utilities, and impacted communities; 2) translate scientific results into easily understandable outreach and education materials; and 3) help build capacity for impacted communities and/or community-based organizations to address their needs and concerns related to the research areas described in Section I.D (Specific Research Areas of Interest/Expected Outputs and Outcomes) beyond the lifetime of the project. If an applicant does not plan on collaborating/engaging with other groups in project performance, the degree to which the Plan clearly describes how the aforementioned activities will be effectively performed and completed without such collaboration/engagement will be evaluated.
  - c. The degree to which the Plan clearly describes how project activities will be coordinated with related or complementary projects and studies.
  - d. The degree to which the Plan clearly describes how the proposed collaboration/engagement will materialize during the project along with evidence of the partner(s)' intent to participate. If an applicant does not intend to collaborate/engage with respect to the project, then the applicant will be evaluated based on how well it demonstrates that it can effectively perform and complete the project without such collaboration/encouragement.
- 6. <u>Other Factors</u> (subcriteria are equally weighted):
  - (a) <u>Innovation</u>: The degree to which the application demonstrates that the research will challenge and seek to shift current research or engineering paradigms by using innovative

theoretical concepts, approaches or methodologies, instrumentation or interventions applicable to one or more fields of research.

(b) <u>Sustainability</u>: The degree to which the application demonstrates that the research will embody the principles of sustainability and seek sustainable solutions that protect the environment and strengthen our communities. The sustainability primer (see link) provides examples of research activities that promote and incorporate sustainability principles (<u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-05/documents/sustainability\_primer\_v9.pdf</u>).

# **B.** Relevancy Review

Applications receiving final peer review scores of excellent or very good will then undergo an internal relevancy review, as described below, conducted by experts from the EPA, including individuals from the Office of Research and Development (ORD) and program and regional offices involved with the science or engineering proposed. All other applications are automatically declined. The purpose of the relevancy review is to ensure an integrated research portfolio for the Agency and help determine which applications to recommend for award.

Prior to the relevancy review panel meeting, all relevancy reviewers will receive electronic copies of all applications that passed peer review as well as a full set of abstracts for the applications. Each application will be assigned to a minimum of three primary relevancy reviewers, one of whom will be assigned the role of Rapporteur. Each reviewer will be assigned up to approximately 10 applications on which to serve as a primary relevancy reviewer. During the review period leading up to the relevancy review panel meeting, all reviewers will be instructed to read the full set of abstracts and the entire application package for each application they are assigned. They will also prepare a written individual evaluation for each assigned application that addresses the relevancy review criteria described below and rate the application with a score of A, high relevance to EPA mission; B, relevant to EPA mission; C, moderately relevant to EPA mission; D, possibly relevant to EPA mission; or E, not relevant to EPA mission.

All applications that pass peer review will be discussed by the relevancy review panel with the Rapporteur initiating the discussion. If the primary relevancy reviewers revise their initial scores after the discussion by the panel they will document the reasons for the revisions. After the discussion, the primary relevancy reviewers will provide their final score for the applications they are assigned. The final ratings of the primary reviewers will then be translated by EPA into the final relevancy review score (A, B, C, D, or E) for the application.

The final relevancy review score (A, B, C, D, or E) and final peer review score (Excellent or Very Good) will be used to place each application in one of 6 ranking tiers: Tier 1 = A/Excellent; Tier 2 = A/Very Good or B/Excellent; Tier 3 = B/Very Good or C/Excellent; Tier 4 = C/Very Good or D/Excellent; Tier 5 = D/Very Good; Tier 6 = E/Excellent or E/Very Good.

The internal relevancy review panel will assess the relevancy of the proposed research to the EPA's mission and priorities based on the following criteria that are listed in descending order of importance (i.e., Criteria 1 has the heaviest weight):

- The degree to which the proposed science/research is relevant to EPA's priorities as described in this solicitation and the following goals and objectives: Goal 1: Tackle the Climate Crisis, Objective 1.1: Reduce Emissions that Cause Climate Change and Objective 1.2: Accelerate Resilience and Adaptation to Climate Change Impacts; and Goal 4: Ensure Clean and Healthy Air for All Communities, Objective 4.1: Improve Air Quality and Reduce Localized Pollution and Health Impacts and Objective 4.2: Reduce Exposure to Radiation and Improve Indoor Air, of EPA's Draft <u>FY2022-2026 Strategic Plan</u>.
- 2. The degree to which results (i.e., outputs/outcomes) of the research have broad application or affect large segments of society.
- 3. The degree to which the research is designed to produce data and methods that can immediately and/or with little to no translation be utilized by the public, states, and tribes to better assess or manage environmental problems.

# C. Past Performance History Review

Those applicants who received final scores of excellent or very good as a result of the peer review process will also be asked to provide additional information for the past performance history review pertaining to the proposed Lead PI's (in the case of Multiple-PI applications, the Contact PI's) "Past Performance and Reporting History." The applicant must provide the EPA with information on the proposed Lead/Contact PI's past performance and reporting history under prior Federal agency assistance agreements (assistance agreements include grants and cooperative agreements but not contracts) in terms of: (i) the level of success in managing and completing each agreement, (ii) history of meeting the reporting requirements and documenting progress towards achieving the expected results (outputs/outcomes) under each agreement, and (iii) whether journal publications or author manuscripts associated with the journal publications, and the associated underlying scientific research data and metadata, resulting from those agreements were made publicly accessible.

This information is required only for the proposed Lead/Contact PI's performance under Federal assistance agreements performed within the last five years.

Past performance history review scores are satisfactory (S), nothing to report (NTR) or unsatisfactory (U). For purposes of consideration of an award, scores of S will be considered favorable, NTR will be considered neither favorable nor unfavorable and scores of U will be considered unfavorable and unlikely to result in an award recommendation. Scores of S and U must be justified by the reviewer, with scores of U clearly documented to explain why past performance history cannot be considered satisfactory.

The specific information required for each agreement is shown below and must be provided within one week of EPA's request. A maximum of three pages will be permitted for the response; excess pages will not be reviewed. Note: If no prior past performance information and/or reporting history exists, you will be asked to so state.

- 1. Name of Granting Agency
- 2. Grant/Cooperative agreement number
- 3. Grant/Cooperative agreement title
- 4. Grantee Institution
- 5. Brief description of the grant/cooperative agreement

6. A discussion on whether the agreement was successfully managed and completed; if not successfully managed and completed, provide an explanation

7. Information relating to the proposed Lead/Contact PI's past performance in reporting on progress towards achieving the expected results (outputs/outcomes) under the agreement and meeting reporting requirements under the agreement. Include the history of submitting acceptable and timely progress/final technical reports, describe how progress towards achieving the expected results was reported/documented and if such progress was not being made, provide an explanation of whether and how this was reported

8. Information relating to whether journal publications or author manuscripts associated with the journal publications, and the associated underlying scientific research data and metadata, resulting from those agreements were made publicly accessible (and if not, explain why not; or explain why this requirement does not apply) to the extent permissible under applicable laws and regulations

- 9. Total (all years) grant/cooperative agreement dollar value
- 10. Project period

11. Technical contact (project officer), telephone number and Email address (if available)

In evaluating applicants under the past performance history factor, EPA will consider the information provided by the applicant and may also consider relevant information from other sources, including information from EPA files and from current/prior grantors (e.g., to verify and/or supplement the information provided by the applicant). If you do not have any relevant or available past performance or past reporting information, please indicate this in your response and you will receive a nothing to report (NTR) score for these factors assuming EPA does not have any information in its files or from other sources that can be considered. If you do not provide any response for these items, you may receive an unsatisfactory (U) score for these factors.

The past performance history review will be conducted by the EPA and will assess the following criteria which are of equal weight:

1. History of successfully managing and completing these prior Federal assistance agreements, including whether there is a satisfactory explanation for any lack of success.

2. History in meeting reporting requirements under the prior agreements and reporting progress toward achieving results (outputs/outcomes) under these agreements, including the proposed Lead/Contact PI's history of submitting acceptable and timely progress/final technical reports that adequately describe the progress toward achieving the expected results under the agreements. Any explanation of why progress toward achieving the results was not made will also be considered.

3. History of whether journal publications or author manuscripts associated with the journal publications, and the associated underlying scientific research data and metadata, resulting from these prior assistance agreements were made publicly accessible, and if not whether the Lead/Contact PI adequately explained why not, or the Lead/Contact PI explained why the requirement does not apply.

#### D. Human Subjects Research Statement (HSRS) Review

Applications being considered for funding after the Relevancy and Past Performance Review that involve human subjects research studies will have their HSRS reviewed prior to award. The local EPA Human Subjects Officer (HSO) will review the information provided in the HSRS and the Research Plan to determine if the ethical treatment of human subjects is described in a manner appropriate for the project to move forward. The HSO may consult with the EPA Human Subjects Research Review Official (HSRRO) as appropriate. The HSRRO may determine that an application cannot be funded if it is inconsistent with EPA's regulations at 40 CFR Part 26.

# E. Evaluation of the Scientific Data Management Plan

EPA will evaluate the merits of the SDMPs for those applications recommended for award. The SDMPs for those applications not recommended for award will not be reviewed. The SDMPs of all applications recommended for award will be evaluated to ensure they are appropriate and adequate (e.g., describe the types of scientific research data and metadata to be collected and/or generated under the proposed research award and include plans for providing long-term preservation of, and public access to, the scientific research data and metadata). SDMPs that indicate the proposed research will not result in the generation and/or collection of scientific research data will also be evaluated to ensure the proposed research will not result in the generation and/or collection of scientific research data and therefore not require a more comprehensive SDMP. Applicants may be contacted regarding their SDMP if additional information is needed or if revisions are required prior to award. If upon review of the SDMP, EPA identifies any issues with the plan, EPA will raise these issues to the applicant, so they may be addressed. Applicants with an unsatisfactory SDMP will not receive an award.

#### F. Funding Decisions

EPA intends to select 6 regular applications and 5 early career applications (as defined in Section III.A) for award. This is an estimate only and is subject to change based on funding levels, the quality of applications received, and other applicable considerations. EPA reserves the right to change the ratio of regular and early career awards based on the results of the competition and Agency priorities. For selection purposes, EPA's Office of Research and Development will prepare two ranked lists of applications: one list will be comprised of regular applications and the other of early career applications. Selections will be made based on the rankings in both lists.

Final funding decisions are made by the ORD selection official based on the ranking tier, the past-performance history review, the evaluation of the SDMP, and, where applicable, the assessment of the applicant's human subjects research (see Section IV.C.6.c). In addition, in making the final funding decisions, the ORD selection official may also consider program

balance, the ratio of awards for regular applications and early career applications, and available funds. Applicants selected for funding will be required to provide additional information listed below under "Award Notices." The application will then be forwarded to EPA's Grants and Interagency Agreement Management Division for award in accordance with the EPA's procedures.

# VI. AWARD ADMINISTRATION INFORMATION

Note: Additional provisions that apply to this section can be found at EPA Solicitation Clauses.

#### A. Award Notices

Customarily, applicants are notified about evaluation decisions within six months of the solicitation closing date. Applicants to be recommended for funding will be required to submit additional certifications and an electronic version of the revised project abstract. They may also be asked to provide responses to comments or suggestions offered by the peer reviewers and/or submit a revised budget. EPA Project Officers will contact the Lead PI/Contact PI to obtain these materials. Before or after an award, applicants may be required to provide additional quality assurance documentation.

The official notification of an award will be made by the Agency's Grants and Interagency Agreement Management Division. Applicants are cautioned that only a grants officer is authorized to bind the Government to the expenditure of funds; preliminary selection by the ORD selection official does not guarantee an award will be made. For example, statutory authorization, funding or other issues discovered during the award process may affect the ability of EPA to make an award to an applicant. The award notice, signed by an EPA grants officer, is the authorizing document and will be provided through electronic or postal mail.

#### **B.** Disputes

Assistance agreement competition-related disputes will be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution procedures published in 70 FR (Federal Register) 3629, 3630 (January 26, 2005) which can be found at <u>Grant Competition Dispute Resolution Procedures</u>. Copies of these procedures may also be requested by contacting the person listed in Section VII of the announcement. Note, the FR notice references regulations at 40 CFR Parts 30 and 31 that have been superseded by regulations in 2 CFR parts 200 and 1500. Notwithstanding the regulatory changes, the procedures for competition-related disputes remains unchanged from the procedures described at 70 FR 3629, 3630, as indicated in 2 CFR Part 1500, Subpart E.

#### C. Administrative and National Policy Requirements

Expectations and responsibilities of ORD grantees and cooperative agreement recipients are summarized in this section, although the terms grants and cooperative agreements are used interchangeably.

**1. Meetings:** Principal Investigators will be expected to budget for, and participate in, All-Investigators Meetings (also known as progress reviews) approximately once per year with EPA scientists and other grantees to report on research activities and discuss issues of mutual interest.

**2. Approval of Changes after Award:** Prior written approval of changes may be required from EPA. Examples of these changes are contained in 2 CFR 200.308. Note: prior written approval is also required from the EPA Award Official for incurring costs more than 90 calendar days prior to award.

**3. Human Subjects:** A grant applicant must agree to comply with all applicable provisions of EPA Regulation 40 CFR Part 26 (Protection of Human Subjects). In addition, grant applicants must agree to comply with EPA's procedures for oversight of the recipient's compliance with 40 CFR Part 26, as given in EPA Order 1000.17A (Policy and Procedures on Protection of Human Research Subjects in EPA Conducted or Supported Research). As per this Order, no human subject may be involved in any research conducted under this assistance agreement, including recruitment, until the research has been approved or determined to be exempt by the EPA Human Subjects Research Review Official (HSRRO) after review of the approval or exemption determination of the Institutional Review Board(s) (IRB(s)) with jurisdiction over the research under 40 CFR Part 26. Following the initial approvals indicated above, the recipient must, as part of the annual report(s), provide evidence of continuing review and approval of the research by the IRB(s) with jurisdiction, as required by 40 CFR 26.109(e).

Guidance for investigators conducting EPA-funded research involving human subjects may be obtained here:

https://www.epa.gov/osa/basic-information-about-human-subjects-research-0 https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title40/40cfr26 main 02.tpl

**4. Data Access and Information Release:** EPA's requirements associated with data access and information release as well as copyrights, may be accessed here: <u>https://www.epa.gov/grants/epa-solicitation-clauses</u>.

Congress, through OMB, has instructed each federal agency to implement Information Quality Guidelines designed to "provide policy and procedural guidance...for ensuring and maximizing the quality, objectivity, utility, and integrity of information, including statistical information, disseminated by Federal agencies." The EPA's implementation may be found at <a href="https://www.epa.gov/quality/guidelines-ensuring-and-maximizing-quality-objectivity-utility-and-integrity-information">https://www.epa.gov/quality/guidelines-ensuring-and-maximizing-quality-objectivity-utility-and-integrity-information</a>. These procedures may apply to data generated by grant recipients if those data are disseminated as described in the Guidelines.

**5. Reporting:** A grant recipient must agree to provide annual performance progress reports, with associated summaries, and a final report with an executive summary. The summaries will be posted on EPA's Research Grants website. The reports and summaries should be submitted electronically to the Technical Contact named in Section VII of this announcement.

A grant recipient must agree to provide copies of, or acceptable alternate access to (e.g., web link), any peer reviewed journal article(s) resulting from the research during the project period.

In addition, the recipient should notify the ORD Project Officer of any papers published after completion of the grant that were based on research supported by the grant. ORD posts references to all publications resulting from a grant on EPA's Research Grants website.

**6.** Acknowledgement of EPA Support: EPA's full or partial support must be acknowledged in journal articles, oral or poster presentations, news releases, interviews with reporters and other communications. The acknowledgement to be included in any documents developed under this agreement that are intended for distribution to the public or inclusion in a scientific, technical or other journal will be provided in the award's terms and conditions.

# VII. AGENCY CONTACTS

Further information, if needed, may be obtained from the EPA contacts indicated below. Information regarding this RFA obtained from sources other than these Agency Contacts may not be accurate. Email inquiries are preferred.

Technical Contact: Serena Chung; phone: 202-564-6069; email: <u>chung.serena@epa.gov</u> Eligibility Contact: Ron Josephson; phone: 202-564-7823; email: <u>josephson.ron@epa.gov</u> Electronic Submissions Contact: Debra M. Jones; phone: 202-564-7839; email: <u>jones.debram@epa.gov</u>